Sensory guided equivalence learning and its connection with borderline personality disorder

Anett Rosu, MD

PhD Thesis

Szeged

2023

University of Szeged Albert Szent-Györgyi Medical School Doctoral School of Theoretical Medicine

Sensory guided equivalence learning and its connection with borderline personality disorder

PhD Thesis

Anett Rosu, MD

Supervisors: Attila Nagy, habil, PhD Gabriella Eördegh, PhD

Szeged

2023

Table of contents

Publications	3
List of abbreviations	4
1. Introduction	6
1.1.1. BPD (definitions, classification, epidemiology, etymology)	
1.1.2. BPD symptoms	
1.1.3. The effect of BPD on the brain: structural and functional differences	
1.1.4 BPD and cognitive functions	
1.2. Learning and memory	
1.2.1. The classification of memory	
1.2.2. Explicit memory	
1.2.3. The medial temporal lobe (MTL)	
1.2.4. Implicit memory	
1.2.5. Implicit memory functions	
1.2.5.1. Priming	
1.2.5.2. Procedural learning	
1.2.5.2. Associative learning:	
a) Classical conditioning	
b) Operant conditioning	
1.2.5.3 Non- associative learning: habituation and sensitization	
1.2.5.4. Other types of associational learning	
1.3. The basal ganglia	
1.3.1. The cognitive functions of basal ganglia	
1.4. Acquired equivalence learning	
1.5. Effect of multisensory stimuli on learning	
2. Aims of the study	24
3. Materials and methods	25
3.1. Participants	
3.1.1. Study#1	
3.1.2. Study#2	
3.2. Equivalence Learning Paradigms	
3.3. Procedure	
3.4. Statistical analysis	
4. Results	32
4.1. Study#1	
4.1.1. Comparison of the BPD and matched healthy control groups	
4.1.2. The effect of medication on the performances of BPD patients in	
visually-guided equivalence learning	
4.2. Study#2	
4.2.1. The performance in the visual and multisensory paradigms	
4.2.2. Latency of the correct trials in the two paradigms	
5. Discussion	38
6. Summary	43

7. Acknowledgements

8. References

Publications

I. Full publications published in a referred journal (List of publications connected to the thesis):

1. EÖRDEGH, GABRIELLA; ŐZE, ATTILA; BODOSI, BALÁZS; PUSZTA, ANDRÁS; PERTICH, ÁKOS; <u>ROSU, ANETT</u> et al. (2019) Multisensory guided associative learning in healthy humans. PLOS ONE 14 (3), e0213094. IF: 2,74 SJR: D1

 <u>ROSU, ANETT</u>; TÓT, KÁLMÁN; GODÓ, GYÖRGY; KÉRI, SZABOLCS; NAGY, ATTILA; EÖRDEGH, GABRIELLA (2022) Visually guided equivalence learning in borderline personality disorder. HELIYON 8 (10), e10823.
IF: 3,776 SJR: Q1

II. Abstracts published in a referred journal:

1. <u>ROSU, ANETT</u>; EÖRDEGH, GABRIELLA; NAGY, ATTILA Human study of sensory directed associative equivalence learning. Hungarian Psychiatric Association XXI. Travelling rally, Siófok, Hungary, 2017. 01. 26-28. PSYCHIATRIA HUNGARICA (32) Suppl. I. 89 (2017)

III. Conference announcements:

1. <u>ROSU, ANETT</u>; EÖRDEGH, GABRIELLA; BODOSI, BALÁZS; ŐZE, ATTILA; NAGY, ATTILA Human study of multisensory directed associative equivalence learning. XIX. VISION SYMPOSIUM, Szeged, 2017. 02. 03. (lecture)

2. EÖRDEGH, GABRIELLA; <u>ROSU, ANETT</u>; GODÓ, GYÖRGY; NAGY, ATTILA Impairment of visually guided associative learning in patients with borderline personality disorder. IBRO WORKSHOP, Szeged, 2020. 01. 29-30 P51

List of abbreviations

- ACC: Anterior cingulate cortex
- AEL: Acquired equivalence learning
- AL: Associative learning
- ALER: Association phase learning error ratio
- BG: Basal ganglia
- BPD: Borderline personality disorder
- CA: Ammon's horn
- Cth: Cortical thickness
- DG: Dentate gyrus
- DLPFC: Dorsolateral prefrontal cortex
- DSM-5: Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, fifth edition
- FC: Functional connectivity
- fMRI: Functional magnetic resonance imaging
- GER: Generalization error ratio
- GMV: Gray matter volume
- GPe: External segment of globus pallidus
- GPi: Internal segment of globus pallidus
- HC: Healthy control
- HPA: Hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal
- HPC: Hippocampi
- ICD-10: International Statistical Classification of Diseases and Related Health Problems tenth revision
- MTL: The medial temporal lobe
- NAT: Number of acquisition trials
- OCD: Obsessive-compulsive disorder
- PCC: Posterior cingulate cortex
- PTSD: Post-traumatic stress disorder
- RAET: Rutgers acquired equivalence test

RER: Retrieval error ratio

S: Subiculum

SN: Substantia nigra

SNr: Substantia nigra pars reticulata

SNc: Substantia nigra pars compacta

STN: Subthalamic nucleus

VBM: Voxel-based morphometry

VTA: Ventral tegmental area

1. Introduction

1.1.1. Borderline Personality Disorder: definitions, classification, epidemiology, etymology

Borderline Personality Disorder (BPD) is characterized by emotion dysregulation, impulse control, intensive, unstable relationship and self-image (American Psychiatric Association, 2013, Chapman, 2019; Crowell & Kaufman, 2016). BPD or in other classification system (International Statistical Classification of Diseases and Related Health Problems tenth revision, ICD-10) the emotionally unstable personality disorder is a complex mental health disorder (World Health Organization, 2004; Stewart et al., 2019). BPD is classified in the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders fifth edition (DSM-5) under the dramatic cluster personality disorders. BPD often have comorbid other psychiatric disorders, such as affective, anxiety, post-traumatic stress disorder, substance use disorders, disorders, somatic symptoms disorder, dissociative, attention-deficit eating hyperactivity disorder and other personality disorder (American Psychiatric Association, 2013; Zanarini et al., 1998). In adolescence early diagnosis of BPD plays an important role in early intervention and effective treatment for BPD (Chanen et al., 2007; Guilé et al., 2018; Kaess et al., 2014). Earlier classification systems categorized all people with mental health problems into two groups, one of them the psychotics and the other neurotics. Then it was observed that a group of neurotics crosses the borderline of psychosis symptoms in a crisis situation (Moll, 2018). Based on this the concept the nomination "borderline personality disorder" was introduced in the 1960s.

By the DSM-5 patients have to meet at least five out of nine criteria to get to diagnose borderline personality disorder (American Psychiatric Association, 2013). In Europe ICD-10 is applied in the daily routine, where this disease is mentioned as emotionally unstable personality disorder (World Health Organization, 2004).

BPD is the most common personality disorder; its prevalence rate is 2%–3% in the adult population (Swartz et al., 1990). BPD incidence is significantly higher in women than in men (Battle, 2013).

Borderline personality disorder occurs in 20 percent of psychiatric hospitalized patients and can be estimated 10 percent of outpatients (Black et al., 2007). The genetics, neurobiological factors, environmental factors, childhood trauma and

congenital brain abnormalities could contribute to the development of the BPD (Gunderson et al., 1997). The heritability of BPD is approximately between 37% and 69% (Gunderson et al., 2011). Thus 37 to 69 percent of the occurrence of the BPD has genetical background. Torgersen and colleagues (2000) found that BPD was estimated to be the third most heritable personality disorder of all (Torgersen et al., 2000). Twin, sibling, and family studies have found that impulsive aggression is only partially heritable, but studies of serotonin-related genes have not indicated aggression behavior (Goodman et al., 2004).

One of the main factors involved in the development of the borderline personality disorder is childhood trauma or adverse childhood experience. Specific neurobiological factors were identified and dysregulations of the hypothalamicpituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis and modified cortisol level were also found in BPD patients who have experienced childhood trauma.

Cortisol plays important role in the stress response, which is regulated by the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis (HPA axis). So, hyperactive HPA axis and elevated cortisol levels were found in these patients (Grossman et al., 1997). This is the reason for the greater stress response, which may be the reason for their higher vulnerability and irritability (Chapman & Gratz, 2007). Considering that the traumatic events can raise the cortisol level and the activity of HPA axis, the higher cortisol levels and the activity of HPA axis occurred more often in BPD patients with childhood traumatic events (Chapman & Gratz, 2007).

There is a close connection between the development of BPD and childhood abuse, especially child sexual abuse (Ball & Links, 2009; Cohen, 2008; Herman, 1992; Quadrio, 2005). Development of BPD symptoms was predicted not only childhood sexual abuse but the suppressed negative emotions and the intensity and reactivity of suppressed negative emotions could trigger the BPD, too (Rosenthal et al., 2005).

1.1.2. BPD symptoms (American Psychiatric Association, 2016)

- 1. Desperate effort to avoid real or imagined abandonment (note: criterion 5 suicidal or self-injurious behavior is not included).
- 2. A pattern of unstable and intense interpersonal relationships characterized by extreme alternation of idealization and disdain.
- 3. Identity disturbance: markedly and permanently unstable self-image or self-worth.

- 4. Impulsivity in at least two potentially self-harming or self-endangering areas (e.g., spending, sex, careless driving, binge drinking) (note: the 5 criteria for suicidal or self-injurious behavior does not belong here).
- 5. Repetitive suicidal behavior, gestures threats or self-injurious behavior.
- 6. Affective instability as a result of significant mood reactivity (e.g. intense episodic dysphoria, irritability or anxiety, which usually lasts for a few hours and rarely lasts more than a few days.
- 7. Chronic feeling of emptiness.
- 8. Inadequate, intense anger or anger control, difficulty (e.g. frequent outbursts of anger, constant anger, repeated fights).
- 9. Absent, stress-related paranoid thoughts or severe dissociative symptoms.

1.1.3. The effect of BPD on the brain: structural and functional differences

Several parts of the central nervous system (i.e. prefrontal cortex, caudate nucleus, limbic system, anterior cingulate cortex (ACC) and the brain areas of the HPA axis and other related structures) could be involved in the pathophysiology of the BPD (O'Neill & Frodl, 2012).

Anthony Ruocco and colleagues (2013) have pointed out two patterns of brain activity that may be the background of emotional dysregulation in BPD. One of it is the experience of increased emotional pain in line with the increased brain activity and the second is the decreased activity of brain circuits, which could suppress the increased emotional pain. However there were strong individual differences in the dysfunction of the limbic system (Ruocco et al., 2013). Several neuroimaging studies revealed in BPD patients the volume reduction of the brain regions involved in the regulation of emotion and stress responses, i.e. the hippocampus, the orbitofrontal cortex and the amygdala (O'Neill & Frodl, 2012). On the other hand, Ruocco and Schulze observed increased gray matter volume (GMV) in the hippocampus and amygdale than in healthy controls (Ruocco et al., 2013; Schulze et al., 2016). Aguilar-Ortiz (2018) also detected a significant reduction in GMV in the dorsolateral and medial frontal cortices, but the reduction was not found in the hippocampus and/or amygdala. Sampedro and colleagues (2021) reported decreased GMV in prefrontal cortex in BPD. Further, GMV reduction was found in the dorsolateral frontal cortex

and the medial frontal cortex, too. These cortical regions seem to be involved in cognitive control and the dysfunction of them could contribute to the development of BPD (Aguilar-Ortiz et al., 2018; Sampedro et al., 2021). Sampedro and colleagues (2021) found that the prefrontal cortex is thinner in BPD patients than the cortex of the healthy controls (Fig. 1.). This study supported previous results, which examined neuropsychological dysfunction and also found connection between reduced GMV in the ACC and enhanced impulsiveness (Soloff et al., 2003) and with general clinical severity (Aguilar-Ortiz et al., 2018; Sampedro et al., 2021). A PET study detected functional differences in orbitofrontal and ventromedial prefrontal cortex regions, which are involved in response inhibition, impulsivity regulation and reactive aggression (Blair, 2016; Soloff et al., 2008). Impulsivity and aggressive behavior were connected with frontal lobe hypometabolism (Salavert et al., 2011; Schulze et al., 2016) and decreased blood flow in the medial and orbitofrontal cortex (Wolf et al., 2012). McGarry and Carter (2017) observed that the prefrontal cortex is connected to the basolateral amygdala; the strongest inputs from the amygdala go back to the prefrontal cortex and to hippocampus but weaker inputs reach the striatum, too. These pathways are involved in emotional and motivated behaviors as fear and anxiety (McGarry & Carter, 2017). In BPD decreased GMV in prefrontal cortex and larger GMV in limbic system could partially interpreted these differences in emotional regulation and behavior response. This surprisingly intense activity may explain why fear, sadness, anger and shame can be very intense and long-lasting in BPD people (Chapman & Gratz, 2007). Yang and colleagues (2016) detected increased gray matter in regions including the bilateral supplementary motor area, dentate gyrus and bilateral precuneus, which reach to the bilateral posterior cingulate cortex (PCC). This may indicate reduced working memory, but improved episodic memory (Yang et al., 2016). The heterogeneity of neuroimaging results was interpreted partially by methodological differences, psychotropic medication and different age of the patients (Arens et al., 2013; Giuliani et al., 2005; Schulze et al., 2016).

BPD vs HC



Fig.1. Structural differences between BPD and healthy control (HC) groups in voxelbased morphometry (VBM) and cortical thickness (Cth) From: Sampedro et al., 2021. Structural brain abnormalities in borderline personality disorder correlate with clinical severity and predict psychotherapy response

With the relative inactivity of the prefrontal cortex observed in BPD patients, we can understand the difficulties these patients in regulating their emotions and the stress response, given that the prefrontal cortex is involved in emotion regulation (Chapman & Gratz, 2007).

Da le Fuente and colleagues (1997) and Goyer and colleagues (1994) found relatively decreased glucose metabolism in the frontal cortex, limbic system, basal ganglia and the resting thalamus (De La Fuente et al., 1997; Goyer et al., 1994). In contrast, Juengling and colleagues (2003) detected hypermetabolism in the anterior cingulate cortex and in several parts of the frontal cortex. Hypometabolism was showed in the limbic structure of the left hippocampus, in the left cuneus and in occipital region included visual processing (Juengling et al., 2003).

Brambilla and colleagues (2004) examined volume deviations in the putamen, which is also part of the basal ganglia. The putamen has a role in strengthening learning, the abnormality, which is even more likely occurs among alcohol and drug abusers. With participation of 10 BPD patients with comorbid disorders (no medication for two months) were found decreased hippocampal volume and increased putamen volume (Brambilla et al., 2004; Lis et al., 2007). The greatest impairment was detected in the area of decision-making, which indicated impairment of orbitofrontal cortex and the anterior cingulate cortex (Carrasco et al., 2012; Rüsch et al., 2010; Unoka & J Richman, 2016). The BPD symptoms of identity disturbances and dissociations may be elicited by the decrease volume of hippocampus (Ruocco et al., 2012) and the fronto-limbic dysregulation (Minzenberg et al., 2007; Salavert et al., 2011), which can influence the memory processes. In BPD patients visuospatial abilities may associate to parietal dysfunctions, too (Zago & Tzourio-Mazoyer, 2002). Slower cognitive processing speeds probably could indicate white matter damage, which limits communication and coordination in the central nervous system (Carrasco et al., 2012; Minzenberg et al., 2007; Turken et al., 2008; Unoka & J Richman, 2016).

The question was whether the putamen and caudate nucleus hyperactivation could be interpreted as a neural correlate of reduced emotion acceptance (Gratz & Tull, 2010). Decreased acceptance of emotions increase the need to respond to averseness. The striatum processes emotions and motion control in cooperation with the prefrontal and the limbic brain regions (Stathis et al., 2007). While the putamen is primarily responsible for the implementation of behavior, the activation of the caudate body plays an important role in the planning of goal-directed behavior (Balleine et al., 2007; Grahn et al., 2008). Especially, when a specific behavior is expected to have a positive outcome, the activation of the caudate nucleus is enhanced (Tricomi et al., 2004). D'Argembeau and colleagues (2008) observed increased activation in the caudate nucleus when BPD patients anticipated near-future events. This activation can be explained as mental simulation of upcoming emotional experiences and positive triggered actions (D'Argembeau et al., 2008). Therefore the striatal hyperactivation can be explained as a neural circuit of behavioral reaction to pressing and unaccepted emotional experience or cognitive execution processes (Li et al., 2013). In BPD the dorsostriatal (putamen and caudate) hyperactivation can be explained as neural correlate of a greater cognitive-executvie processes in response to an unacknowledged emotional experience. Hyperactivation was also found in the posterior part of the superior frontal gyrus and the precentral gyrus. In BPD patients the higher activation of the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex (DLPFC) could be a sign of increased executive control, which could affect false emotions and decrease in the acceptance (Lamers et al., 2019).

1.1.4. BPD and cognitive functions

Unoka and colleagues (2016) found several cognitive impairments in BPD patients. These impairments are highly heterogenous and it is important to calculate with the moderating effect of parents' education and comorbid diseases. The degree of cognitive impairment identifying was different. Large difference was found in the case of decision making, memory and executive functions. It was moderated in case of global cognition and there was a slight difference in terms of visuospatial abilities, attention, verbal intelligence and processing speed. The heterogeneity of the overall effect was contributed by some significantly moderating factors, such as comorbidities, neuropsychological domain and education. When BPD patients were compared with healthy controls, they could elicit cognitive impairment, decision making impairment, memory deficit, executive functioning impairment, processing speed impairment, verbal intelligence impairment, visuospatial abilities impairment, attention impairment. However the overall intellectual ability, non-verbal intelligence and language domains were not different. The cognitive performance was not affected by gender, age, race and antidepressant treatment. On the other hand, BPD patients with more education and parents of higher education had better performances. The cognitive performance of BPD patients with comorbidity with other personality disorders, i.e. major depression, eating disorders, any substance abuse disorders were worse, while comorbidity with anxiety disorders and post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD) have not affected the results. The cognitive impairment observed in the patients is related to anomalies of brain structures and neurochemical changes. In BPD patients the impairment of executive function and decision making, the slight lack of attention can be related to previously experienced structural abnormalities (Irle et al., 2005; Rüsch et al., 2003), altered connectivity between brain regions (Minzenberg et al., 2007) and hypometabolism of the prefrontal cortex (De La Fuente et al., 1997; Juengling et al., 2003; Soloff et al., 2003). Impaired executive functions (difficulty in mental set shifting, planning, information updating and monitoring inhibition of prepotent responses) are associated with BPD symptoms like identity diffusion, irritability, impulsivity self injury, poor self control, emotional lability, dissociative symptoms, lack of self direction, rigidity, chronic feelings of emptiness and difficulty in shifting attention (Unoka & Richman, 2016).

In BPD patients the background of difficulties in decision-making may be the difficulty of retaining responses in order to get a greater reward (in impulsive spending sex, binge eating and substance abuse). There may be a connection between the delay aversion and processing disorder of punishment signals in reward situation, which may reflect a lack of balance between appetitive and aversive motivational states, when BPD patients received by confirmation signs. The same was found even in tasks where BPD patients received cognitive feedback about the negative consequences of their behavior (Svaldi et al., 2012; Unoka & Richman, 2016).

1.2. Learning and memory

The learning and memory are obligatory functions of the human brain which are needed in a normal life. These are necessary to survive the different challenges occurring in our life (Kandel et al., 2013). Weather deliberate or not, but we apply them in everyday life. Through this ability, we are able to better adapt to environmental changes, and they represent a great evolutionary advantage.

We call the processes during which knowledge is coded, stored, and then recalled as memory (Kandel et al., 2013). The segregation of memory and learning is difficult and always impossible. Berry and Dienes (1991) described that implicit learning and implicit memory can be interpreted as two independent concepts. They described that the characteristics of implicit memory processes were also characteristics of implicit learning. So the two phenomenon are not independent (Berry & Dienes, 1991). The same brain structures are involved in both functions (Packard & Knowlton, 2002; Squire et al., 2004; Squire & Zola, 1996).

1.2.1. The classification of memory

Memory can store and recall information what we need. Atkinson and Shiffrin (1968) described that memory can group into the following three parts: the sensory register, the short-term memory and the long-term memory.

The sensory register consolidates the sensory information only for a short time, and then the stored information could disappear. Short-term memory (also working memory) is the structure that gets input from the sensory register and the long-term memory and it could store and change information. Working memory includes the immediate and small information that a person uses to perform cognitive tasks. The information hold here also disappears completely, but this is a longer time than in case of the sensory register. The timeframe is between one and 30 seconds (Atkinson & Shiffrin, 1968).

The long-term store is a constant storage place, even if the acquired knowledge has long been outside of consciousness (Kandel et al., 2013). The information hold here is from the short term storage. Long-term memory can be divided in two parts: the implicit (nondeclarative) and the explicit (declarative) memory (Graf & Schacter, 1985).



Fig. 2. The structure of long term memory systems, and specific neural correlates. From: Kandel et al., 2013

1.2.2.Explicit memory

Explicit long-term memory (declarative memory) is the processes that make it possible to consciously and voluntary recall previously hold information (Kandel et al., 2013). Two parts of explicit memory are the episodic and the semantic memories (Squire et al., 1993). Episodic memory is developed by a certain episode of life, or from autobiographical memory. Semantic memories are general facts and details of information absorbed over the years (Squire et al., 1993). Explicit memory is functional and structural homogeneous. The center of it is the medial temporal lobe (MTL) and it is strongly connected to the hippocampi (Grafton et al., 1995; Hendelman, 2006; Squire et al., 1993).

1.2.3. The medial temporal lobe (MTL)

The main structure of declarative memory is the hippocampal formation of the MTL, which is a phylogenetically old structure. It contains the hippocampus, the dentate gyrus and the subicular region (Hendelman, 2006; Squire et al., 1993). The hippocampal formation has been found as the system of explicit encoding and retrieval of spatial memory as a cognitive map (O'keefe & Nadel, 1978). This formation gets information from all sensory modalities (Squire et al., 2004) and process multisensory integration, too (Lee et al., 2017). MTL has been described to important component of visual learning (Squire et al., 1993; Squire et al., 2004; Squire & Zola, 1996). The main projections of the hippocampus arrive from the entorhinal cortex and it could also get cortical input from the perirhinal and parahippocampal cortices. These cortices are connecting with frontal, temporal and parietal lobes and the retrosplenial cortex. The perirhinal and parahippocampal cortices are more important in terms of visual modality, getting input from unimodal and dorsal stream visual regions (Malkova & Mishkin, 2003; Squire et al., 1993; Squire et al., 2004; Squire & Zola, 1996). More structures are connected to the declarative memory including the prefrontal cortex (Ofen et al., 2007), the inferior temporal cortex (Squire & Zola, 1996) and the medial thalamus (Mayes, 1995). The organization of the explicit system can be seen on Fig. 3.



Fig. 3. The organization of the explicit system. Abbreviations: DG: dentate gyrus; CA: ammon's horn; S: subiculum. From: Squire et al., 2004

1.2.4. Implicit memory

Implicit long-term memory (nondeclarative memory) does not use conscious memory processes, but it could unconsciously affect thinking and behaving (Ellis, 2009; Graf & Schacter, 1985; Reber, 1989; Squire et al., 1993; Squire & Zola, 1996). Nondeclarative memory anatomically heterogenous and consists diverse systems. Nondeclarative memory is differs from the explicit memory several features. The first difference is the following: learning happens slowly and gradually. Secondly, the durability and reliability of the implicit memory is greater. And finally it is inflexible (Berry & Dienes, 1991; Squire et al., 1993). So that means that this process is very sensitive to environmental changes, the performance can be greatly reduced during the application of the acquired implicit knowledge (Bassili et al., 1989; Jacoby & Dallas, 1981). Nondeclarative memory is larger than explicit memory, so it is more resistant to neurological events (Schuchard & Thompson, 2014). This may be related to the fact that it is a phylogenetically older system (Reber, 1989) and it is a more diffused system than the explicit one (Squire et al., 1993).

1.2.5. Implicit memory functions

1.2.5.1. Priming

Priming is an improved state of recognizing and classifying different things, which are based on previous encounters with the same or similar things (Schacter & Buckner, 1998; Tulving & Schacter, 1990). For example, the brain processes an individual name or object faster when it is presented for the second time, regardless of whether we can recognize that the given object was seen before or not (Schacter & Buckner, 1998; Squire & Dede, 2015). The literature names two types of priming (Kandel et al., 2013). One of these is the conceptual type, which provides easier access to knowledge for semantic knowledge relevant to problem solving, since it was previously used by the individual. The other type is perceptual priming, which occurs in connection with a specific sensory modality (Tulving & Schacter, 1990).

1.2.5.2. Procedural learning

The procedural learning is the learning of a skill, habit or knowledge through repeated practice. This includes multiple learning such as motor and perceptual skills, e.g. mirror-drawing, mirror-reading and reaction time task (Cohen & Squire, 1980; Grafton et al., 1995; Heindel et al., 1989; Packard & Knowlton, 2002; Reber & Squire, 1998; Squire et al., 1993). This learning is mainly influenced by the integrity of the neostriatum (Grafton et al., 1995; Heindel et al., 1995; Heindel et al., 1989; Knopman & Nissen, 1991; Knowlton et al., 1996).

1.2.5.3 Associative learning

The timing of the stimuli is important to make association during associative learning. The associative learning can divide into classical conditioning and operant conditioning (Fonyó, 2011; Kandel et al., 2013). During non-associative learning, the animal learns about the properties of a stimulus while during associative learning it learns the relationship between two stimuli, or the relationship between a stimulus and its own behaviour (Kandel et al., 2013).

a) Classical conditioning

Ivan Pavlov was the first who reported classical conditioning (stimulusresponse theory) in animal experiments. During the process, the animal has to learn to associate two independent stimuli. One stimulus is the conditioned stimulus (can be visual, auditory, verbal, etc.) which initially does not elicit a response. The unconditioned stimulus could elicit an innate instinctive reaction that the animal performs without learning. If the conditioned stimulus is applied repeatedly close to the unconditioned one the response to unconditioned stimulus could be elicited to the new conditioned stimulus, too (Kandel et al., 2013). This type of learning is also intact in patients with amnesia, its development is not conscious (Clark & Squire, 1998; Gabrieli et al., 1995). It was established that this type of conditioning depends on the neuronal networks of the cerebellum and the brainstem (Thompson & Krupa, 1994; Thompson & Steinmetz, 2009).

b) Operant conditioning

The description of operant conditioning is attributed to Edgar Thomdike. It can also be called trial and error learning. It means the learning of the relationship between the certain behaviour and its consequences. A typical example in laboratory conditions is placing a hungry rat in a special test chamber, where the animal receives a reward for a given behaviour. For example, pushing a pedal results a positive reinforcement (e.g. food) immediately after the movement. Because of the positive reinforcement, it will push the pedal more and more often, it learns that pushing the pedal is followed by a reward. Sooner or later, the animal will probably push the pedal when it is hungry. During operant conditioning, the animal can receive not only positive but also negative reinforcement and some kind of punishment, too. In general, the animal tends to repeat behaviours that are followed by a reward, while behaviours that are aversive but not necessarily painful will not be repeated. The timing plays a critical role in both classical and operant conditioning. Classical conditioning is usually less successful if the time is elongated between the conditioned and unconditioned stimulus or if the unconditioned stimulus precedes the conditioned stimulus in time. During operant conditioning, the positive or negative reinforcement must come closely after the requested behaviour. If the animal receives reinforcement too late, the conditioning is only weakly achieved (Kandel et al., 2013).

1.2.5.4. Non-associative learning: habituation and sensitization

Non-associative learning occurs when an animal or person is exposed to a certain stimulus once or repeatedly. Habituation and sensitization are also common forms in everyday life. We speak of habituation when a harmless stimulus is repeatedly encountered and the response to this stimulus will be decreased. For example, you are celebrating the founding of the state on New Year's Eve, most people are startled by the sound of the first fireworks, however, as they hear more and more, get used to the noise and no longer react to it (Kandel et al., 2013).

In case of sensitization, the animal or person reacts with an increasing response to a stimulus, which will be presented after a strong or harmful stimulus. For example, an animal after a painful bite will react more vividly and decisively to a mild tactile stimulus. A sensitizing stimulus can overwrite the effect of habituation, which is called dishabituation (Kandel et al., 2013). In non-associative learning the timing of the stimulus is not fundamental.

1.2.5.5. Other types of associational learning

During category learning, the individual learns to organize objects, events or situations into different groups. This can be done on the basis of verbalizable properties (explicitly) or gradually, learned from stimulus pair to stimulus pair (implicitly) (Ashby et al., 1998; Ashby & Maddox, 2005).

Statistical learning means that we are able to perceive relevant patterns from the flow of information coming continuously from the environment. On the basis of this information we can predict with higher probability which stimulus follows the previously presented one (Batterink et al., 2019; Sáringer et al., 2022).

Acquired equivalence associative learning is a type of conditioning in which discrete and often different signals are linked together. This learning function is mainly associated with the frontostriatal loops of the basal ganglia and hippocampus (Myers et al., 2003a).

1.3. The basal ganglia

The basal ganglia consist of several interconnected subcortical nuclei, including caudate nucleus, the putamen, the external and internal segments of globus pallidus (GPe and GPi), substantia nigra (SN) pars reticulata (SNr) and compacta (SNc), and the subthalamic nucleus (STN). Caudate nucleus and putamen form the neostriatum. The basal ganglia act primarily through cortico-basal ganglia-thalamocortical loops (Alexander & Crutcher, 1990; Alexander et al., 1986). The caudate nucleus, the main input structure of the basal ganglia receives glutamatergic afferents from all parts of the cerebral cortex. The STN could also receive direct cortical inputs (Parent & Hazrati, 1995). Different sensory information could also relay to the basal ganglia through the specific and non-specific relay nuclei of the thalamus (McHaffie et al., 2005; Nagy et al., 2003). The caudate nucleus and STN transmit signals to the GPi and the SNr. The GPi and the SNr transmit signals primarily to the thalamus (or the midbrain or the pons), which information will be relayed back to the cortex and limbic system. The internal circuits within the basal ganglia can be observed on Fig.4. (Alexander & Crutcher, 1990; Nambu, 2008). The basal ganglia consist of separate circuits with different tasks (Nambu, 2008). Between the prefrontal cortex and the dorsolateral caudate nucleus is the dorsolateral prefrontal circuit. The visual and auditory association cortical areas will be connected through the lateral orbitofrontal circuit with the ventromedial caudate body. The anterior cingulate circuit binds the limbic system (hippocampus, amygdala, entorhinal and perirhinal cortices) and the ventral striatum. These circuits could contribute to in implicit learning functions (Alexander et al., 1986; Nambu, 2008; Packard & Knowlton, 2002). The basal ganglia take part in reward-driven mechanisms by the dopaminergic SN-striatum connection and by the ventral tegmental area (VTA) hippocampus pathway, too (Delgado, 2007).



Fig. 4. The structure of the basal ganglia circuitry.

Abbreviations: GPe, GPi: external and internal part of globus pallidus; SNr, SNc: substantia nigra pars reticularis and compacta; STN: subthalamic nucleus. The roman numbers indicate the three main routes (I: Direct or "Go" pathway, II: Indirect or "non-Go" pathway, III: hyperdirect pathway) of the circuitry.

1.3.1. The cognitive functions of basal ganglia

The basal ganglia are not only involved in motor behavior, but especially the dorsal striatum is involved in learning and memory processes. One of the main hypotheses is that they engage in stimulus-response based learning. In the case of basal ganglia impairment many cognitive performances are reduced (for review see (Glosser, 2001). Cell loss observed in the caudate nucleus and putamen in Huntington's disease is related to cognitive impairment. In Parkinson disease, reduced striatal functions was also found as a consequent of the cell death in the substantia nigra. In both neurological diseases, the motor deficit is the clearest, but alterations in learning and memory functions are also obvious. The damage of the caudate nucleus in experimental animal model elicits analogous habit learning deficits as in humans with basal ganglia disorders. The basal ganglia are also involved in sequence learning (e.g. Laforce & Doyon, 2001; Willingham et al., 1996) and in visuomotor sequence learning (Nissen & Bullemer, 1987; Reber & Squire, 1994). The neuropsychological and human neuroimaging studies found that the basal ganglia are involved in learning skills and habits. The reading of mirror-reserved text is coupled to the enhanced

activation of the caudate nucleus (Dong et al., 2000). Similarly enhanced caudate nucleus activation was demonstrated in the serial reaction-time task (Doyon et al., 1996; Rauch et al., 1997). All studies investigating the basal ganglia during degenerative disease support the role of the basal ganglia in habit learning.

1.4. Acquired Equivalence learning

Acquired equivalence is a specific kind of associative learning. During acquired equivalence learning the participants have to learn to associate two or more different stimuli (antecendents) base on their same outcomes (consequents). Because they have same outcomes, they are equivalent (Meeter et al., 2009; Myers et al., 2003a; Ward-Robinson & Hall, 1999). Due to the development of equivalence between the antecedent stimuli, participants will be able to apply the learned associative rule on new pairs of stimuli that have not been presented before, the development the equivalence thus promotes the success of generalization (Bonardi et al., 1993; Myers et al., 2003a). The visual testing paradigm, the Rutgers Acquired Equivalence Test (RAET) was developed by Myers and colleagues (Myers et al., 2003a), can be divide into two phases, an acquisition phase where the persons establish the equivalence between certain stimuli, and a test phase, where they have to recall the learned stimulus pairs and apply and generalize the association regularities to build new stimulus pairs. These two phases are primarily related to the functioning of two different brain structures. The learning phase is primarily related to frontostriatal loops and to the functions of the basal ganglia, and the test phase is primarily related to the functioning of the hippocampus and mediotemporal lobe (Meeter et al., 2009; Myers et al., 2003a).

To support this, Myers and colleagues (2003a) examined patients with Parkinson's disease and hippocampal atrophy. Patients with Parkinson's disease performed worse in the learning phase than healthy controls but the retrieval and generalization functions were not altered in Parkinson patients. On the other hand, patients suffering from hippocampal atrophy showed similar performance to the control group in the learning phase, but in the test phase, especially in the generalization tasks, they performed worse (Myers et al., 2003a). Furthermore, the RAET was previously applied in other neurological and psychiatric disorders, i.e.

Alzheimer's disease, schizophrenia, obsessive-compulsive disorder (OCD), Tourette syndrome and migraine without aura (Bazanis et al., 2002; Bódi et al., 2009; Giricz et al., 2021; Kéri et al., 2005; Myers et al., 2003a; Öze et al., 2017; Pertich et al., 2020).

1.5. Effect of multisensory stimuli on learning

The basal ganglia and the hippocampi, the key structures involved in equivalence learning process multisensory information (Bates & Wolbers, 2014; Nagy et al., 2005; Nagy, et al., 2006; Ravassard et al., 2013). This concept raises the idea to check the audiovisual associative learning as well. It is a generally accepted fact that multisensory information has additional meaning compared to the sum of some unimodal information (Nagy et al., 2006; van Atteveldt et al., 2014). Multisensory information processing plays a role in orientation and in the recognition of social objects, it can also affect reaction time and response accuracy (Hershenson, 1962; Patching & Quinlan, 2004; Regenbogen et al., 2015). The extra information appears at different levels of brain function. It can even be observed at the single-cell level in many brains areas (Chudler et al., 1995), such as the superior colliculus (Wallace et al., 1998), the basal ganglia (Nagy et al., 2006; Reig & Silberberg, 2014) and cortex (Minciacchi et al., 1987), but also at the level of behavior (Godfroy-Cooper et al., 2015; Lanz et al., 2013). Multisensory integration can occur between stimuli of different modalities, for example visual and auditory (Patching & Quinlan, 2004; Sakata et al., 2004), visual and vestibular (Deshpande & Patla, 2005), auditory and tactile (Leonardelli et al., 2015), or between auditory, visual and somatosensory stimuli (Diederich & Colonius, 2004; Nagy et al., 2006; Wang et al., 2012).

2. Aims of the study

The primary aim of the present thesis work was to investigate the visuallyguided associative acquired equivalence learning and connected memory processes in patients with borderline personality disorder (BPD). This question is significant because the applied cognitive test could shed light on the function of the basal ganglia and the hippocampi in learning processes, the brain structures, which are clearly involved in the pathophysiology of the BPD. The question was, whether the BPD affects the associative acquired equivalence learning and connected memory processes. Specific question was whether there are any differences in the performances of the BPD patients in different phases of the paradigm, i.e. in acquisition and/or in retrieval and/or in the generalization parts of the test phase.

Both of structures, the basal ganglia and the hippocampi, which are the primary target structures of the sensory-guided associative learning process not only visual but multisensory (audiovisual) information. This is the base of the second main aim of the study to develop and to validate a new multisensory, audiovisual equivalence learning test, which will be suitable for the further investigation of the learning processes not only in the BPD patients but in other patients with neurological and psychiatric disorders connected to the dysfunction of basal ganglia and the hippocampi.

3. Materials and methods

3.1. Participants

In line with the aims we present in this PhD thesis the results of two studies. Twenty-three BPD patients and the matched healthy controls were investigated in the first study (see the results in Rosu and colleagues, 2022, Heliyon). In the second study (see the results in Eördegh and colleagues, 2019, PLoS One) 151 healthy adult controls were investigated with the own-developed multisensory test in the audiovisual equivalence learning study. All participants were Caucasian race. To exclude color blindness in the patient and matched healthy control groups, the intactness of color vision was evaluated using Ishihara plates prior to testing. Only patients and controls with normal color vision were included in the current studies. All of them were informed about the background, aims and the procedures prior to involve of the study. All patients received no financial benefit or another any compensation for participation. All participations free of any ophthalmological, otological, neurological and psychiatric (except study#1, BPD) conditions were eligible. The diagnosis of BPD was made by board certified psychiatrists according to the DSM-5 at the hospital. Each participant signed an informed consent form. Both study protocols conformed to the tenets of the declaration of Helsinki in all respects, and it was approved by the Regional Ethics Committee for Medical Research at the University of Szeged, Hungary (50/2015-SZTE).

3.1.1. Study#1

Altogether 23 BPD patients (and the matched healthy controls) participated in this study. All of the patients were diagnosed with borderline personality disorder (18 women and five men, mean age: 28.9 ± 9.6 [range: 18-55] years, median education level: 3.0 [range: 1.0 - 4.0]). We examined their educational levels: 1–elementary school, 2–secondary school, 3–high school, 4–university. The patients were recruited from the Department of Psychiatry (Albert Szent-Györgyi Medical School, University of Szeged). The diagnosis of BPD was made by board certified psychiatrists according to the DSM-5 at the hospital. Inpatients and outpatients were diagnosed with borderline personality disorder without any other psychiatric comorbidities. Eight patients didn't receive any medication, 15 patients used drugs (unchanged) in order to be stable and to balance the symptoms. To investigate this patient group 23 healthy

control humans from our database were fitted in sex, age and education level (18 women and five men, mean age: 28.7 ± 9.2 [range: 18 - 53] years, median education level: 3.0 [range: 2.0 - 4.0]). It is worth to declare that in BPD and healthy control populations were no significant differences in demographic data. (Kruskal-Wallis test, p > 0.05) (Table 1.).

Group	Number of cases	Female/Male	Age, mean (years)	Age, range: (years)	Educational level median (range)
All patients	23	18/5	28.9±9.6	18-55	3.0 (1.0-4.0)
Matched controls	23	18/5	28.7±9.2	18-53	3.0 (2.0-4.0)
Medicated patients	15	12/3	31.2±10.7	18-55	3.0 (1.0-4.0)
Matched controls to medicated patients	15	11/4	30.7±10.1	18-53	3.0 (2.0-4.0)

Table 1.The demographic data for the patient and the control groups

3.1.2. Study#2

In line with the second aim of the study 151 healthy adult volunteers were involved in the audiovisual equivalence learning test. All of the participants were free of any ophthalmological, ontological, neurological and psychiatric disorders.

3.2. Equivalence Learning Paradigms

The tests were run on laptops (Lenovo T430, Fujitsu Siemens Amilo Pro V3505, Samsung Electronics 300e4z/300e5z/300e7z, Lenovo Yoga Y500), and the

participants used headphones (Sennheiser HD 439 closed) for multisensory testing. The participants sat at a comfortable distance (114 cm) from the computer screen in a quiet room. One patient was tested at a time without any time limit, so the patients could concentrate and attention to learning. Quick responses were not expected.

3.3. Procedure

The paradigms were visual and multisensory (audiovisual) guided acquired equivalence learning tests. Both paradigms have two main phases, the acquisition and the test phase. During the learning process (acquisition phase) in the visual test on the computer screen appeared a graphic face and two different colored graphic fish. The patients had to choose, that which of the fish was connected with the given face by pressing the LEFT or RIGHT keys of the keyboard. In the first phase of the paradigm the computer gave feedback whether the choices were correct or no. When a green mark was appeared on the screen, this means that the choice was good, when a red mark was on the screen that means that the answer was wrong (Fig. 5).



Fig. 5. Schematic drawing of the acquisition phase of the applied visual and audiovisual guided associative learning paradigms with feedback. "Helyes" means correct, "Helytelen" means incorrect.

The computer generated possible associations randomly. There were four possible faces: male, female, male child and female child (A1, A2, B1, B2). The four fish have different colors: blue, red, yellow and green (X1, X2, Y1, Y2). In this

example when A1 or A2 face appeared on the screen the good answer was X1 fish, when B1 and B2 were on the screen the good choice was Y1 fish. So, in these facefish associations the participants had to learn that A1 face is equivalent with A2 face, then B1 is also equivalent with B2 too. In the next steps the participants had to learn new associations, when they have seen A1 face, they had to mark X2 fish, and when they have seen B1 face, the correct answer is Y2 fish. In detail, the participants had to achieve 4 consecutive correct responses after the presentations of the first two associations (A1 and X1, B1 and Y1). After these increasing of consecutive correct answers (6, 8, 10, 12 after introduction of each new association, respectively) needed to proceed. If the participants have learned all of the hitherto presented associations (a certain number of correct answers), they could proceed to the next step. Because of this the length of the association phases and the number of trials in this phase varied among the participants, depending upon how efficiently they learned. Thus, the number of trials during acquisition depends on the effectiveness of the associative learning. When all associations were successfully completed, the test phase (retrieval and generalization) started where the computer gave no more feedback about the choices.

In the test phase of paradigms (retrieval and generalization) new unknown but predictable associations appeared randomly mixed with the previously learned associations. The test phase contained 48 trials, from which 36 trials were already learnt pairs (retrieval part) and 12 were new unknown pairs (A2, X2; B2, Y2, generalization part) (Fig. 6.).

The structure of multisensory (audiovisual) paradigm was the same as the visual paradigm (Fig. 7.). Clearly-distinguishable sounds (a cat's meow, the sound of an ignition key, a note played by a guitar and a woman saying a Hungarian word with neutral emotional tone) served as antecedents (sound 1, sound 2, sound 3, sound 4) and faces were used as consequents (X1, X2, Y1, Y2). In each trial a sound (SPL = 60 dB) was played and two faces were presented to the participants on computer screen, who had to learn which face goes with which sound. The stimuli were presented at the same time on the computer screen and through a closed headphone. The participants were asked to choose which face (left or right) is coupled with the given sound and were asked to press the corresponding button (left or right) on the keyboard. The auditory and visual components of the multisensory stimulus pairs were primarily

semantically incongruent (except in the unfortunately case of a woman's voice being matched with a woman's face) (Table 2.).

ACQUISITION			TEST	
Shaping	Equivalence	New consequents	Retrieval	Generalization
	training			
A1 -> X1	A1 -> X1	A1 -> X1	A1 -> X1	
	A2 -> X1	A2 -> X1	A2 -> X1	
		A1 -> X2	A1 -> X2	
				A2 -> X2
B1 -> Y1	B1 -> Y1	B1 -> Y1	B1 -> Y1	
	B2 -> Y1	B2 -> Y1	B2 -> Y1	
		B1 -> Y2	B1 -> Y2	
				B2 -> Y2

Table 2.

A summary of the visual and the audiovisual associative learning paradigms A, B: antecedents (faces), X,Y: consequents (fishes). See the detailed description in the text.



Fig. 6. The schematic drawing of the applied visually guided associative learning paradigms



Fig. 7. The schematic drawing of the applied multisensory (audiovisual) guided associative learning paradigms

3.4. Statistical analysis

In the acquisition phase, the number of trials and the answer accuracy were registered. In addition, the number of accurate response (retrieval and generalization) was assessed for known and unknown associations in the test phase. Based on these data, the error ratios were calculated by dividing incorrect answers by all the choices. The Association phase learning error ratio (ALER) and number of trials (NAT) in the acquisition phase, retrieval error ratio (RER), and generalization error ratio (GER) in the test phase were assessed and compared between the BPD patients and the matched healthy control group. The reaction times (RT) is defined as the time between the appearance of the stimuli and the response of the participant (pressing the LEFT or RIGHT button). RTs were compared between the two groups. Reaction times (RT) in each phase for each answer were measured in ms with ms accuracy. Only the RTs of correct answers were analyzed. The RTs were kept only within 3SDs of participants' average.

First, we tested the distribution of our data. The data sets did not have a normal distribution according by the Shapiro–Wilk test. Thus, the performance and reaction times between the BPD patients and the matched healthy control group were compared with Mann–Whitney U test. The performances and reaction times between the visual and multisensory paradigms in the healthy control group were compared using the Wilcoxon match paired test.

To avoid a carry-over effect between the visual and audiovisual paradigms in the multisensory study, the different paradigms were recorded in a random order among the participants.

The statistical analysis was performed in Statistica 13 (Dell Inc. USA) and G*Power 3.1.9.2. (Düsseldorf, Germany).

4. Results

4.1. Study#1

In this study, we analyzed the cognitive equivalence learning abilities of patients with DPD without any otological, opthalmological, neurological, or psychiatric comorbidities (n = 23). All patients could complete the whole visually guided acquired equivalence learning paradigm.

4.1.1. Comparison of the BPD and matched healthy control groups

In the acquisition phase of the paradigm, the BPD group had a significantly worse performance than the matched healthy control group (Fig. 8.).



Fig. 8.

Performances of BPD patients and healthy controls in acquisition phase of visually guided acquired equivalence paradigm

NAT denotes the number of required trials in the acquisition phase of the paradigm. Acquisition learning error ratio (ALER) represents the error ratios in the acquisition phase of the paradigm. The gray color indicates the performances of patients with borderline personality disorder in each panel. Meanwhile, the white color shows those of matched healthy controls. The lower margin of the boxes represents the 25th percentile. The line within the boxes marks the median, and the upper margin of the boxes indicates the 75th percentile. The error bars (whiskers) above and below the boxes denote the 90th and 10th percentiles, respectively. The dots over and under the whiskers indicate the extreme outliers. The two black stars denote extremely significant differences (p > 0.01), and the black star significant differences (p > 0.05). The median NATs of the BPD patients and matched healthy control groups were 71.0 (range: 45.0 - 185.0) and 50.0 (range: 42.0 - 95.0), respectively (Mann– Whitney test U = 146.5, p = 0.0098, effect size = 0.8077, power = 0.9525). The median ALERs were 0.084 (range: 0.0 - 0.227) and 0.043 (range: 0.0 - 0.15) for the BPD patients and matched healthy control groups, respectively (Mann–Whitney test U = 162.5, p = 0.0255, effect size = 0.7845, power = 0.9520). However, the reaction times of the two groups in the acquisition phase did not differ significantly. The median reaction times were 1565 ms (range: 1035 - 3402 ms) and 1675 ms (range: 1070 - 3489 ms) for the BPD patients and matched healthy control groups, respectively (Mann–Whitney test U = 256, p = 0.860). In contrast to the acquisition phase the performances of the BPD group were not different from those of the matched healthy controls in the retrieval and generalization parts of the applied visual associative learning paradigm (Fig. 9.).



Fig. 9.

Performances of BPD patients and healthy controls in test phase of visually guided acquired equivalence paradigm

The diagrams denote the error ratios in the retrieval (RER) and generalization (GER) parts of the test phase. In each panel, the first boxplot (gray) shows the performance of the borderline personality disorder group, and the second boxplot (white) the performance of the matched healthy control group. The other conventions are similar as on Fig. 8.

The median RERs were 0.028 (range: 0.0 - 0.25) for the BPD group and 0.028 (0.0 - 0.22) for the matched healthy control group (Mann–Whitney test U = 216, p =

0.275). The median GERs were 0.00 (range: 0.0 - 1.0) and 0.083 (range: 0.0 - 1.0) for the BPD patients and matched healthy control groups, respectively (Mann–Whitney test U = 220, p = 0.307). The reaction times of the two groups in the retrieval and generalization parts were also not different. During the retrieval part of the test phase, the median reaction times of the BPD group and matched healthy control group were 1934 ms (range: 1107 – 3729 ms) and 1694 ms (range: 1145 – 2838 ms), respectively (Mann–Whitney test U = 258, p = 0.895). In the generalization part, the median reaction times were 2213 ms (range: 1224 – 8549 ms) for the BPD group and 2310 ms (range: 1159 – 10883 ms) for the matched healthy control group (Mann–Whitney test U = 235, p = 0.879).

4.1.2. The effect of medication on the performances of BPD patients in visually-guided equivalence learning

In a short sentence can be summarized that the medication did not affect significantly the performances of the BPD patients in visually guided equivalence learning. In the acquisition phase of the paradigm, the performances of the medicated group did not differ from those of the non-medicated group. The median NATs of the medicated and non-medicated groups were 69.0 (range: 45.0 - 133.0) and 80.0 (range: 46.0 - 185.0), respectively (Mann–Whitney test U = 47, p = 0.4196). The median ALER values were 0.077 (range: 0.0 - 0.218) for the medicated group and 0.117 (range: 0.043 - 0.227) for the non-medicated group (Mann–Whitney test U = 36, p = 0.129).

Similarly, to the acquisition phase, the medicated and non-medicated groups did not differ in terms of performances in the retrieval and generalization parts of the test phase. The median RERs were 0.028 (range: 0.0 - 0.167) for the medicated group and 0.056 (range: 0.0 - 0.250) for the non-medicated group (Mann–Whitney test U = 48.5, p = 0.468). The median GERs were 0.00 (range: 0.0 - 1.0) and 0.00 (range: 0.0 - 0.750) for the medicated and non-medicated groups, respectively (Mann–Whitney test U = 56.5, p = 0.830).
4.2. Study#2

Altogether 151 healthy volunteers participated in this study. Only a small minority of the participants (6/151) did not complete both the visual and audiovisual (multisensory) paradigms. After the further exclusion of the extreme outliers (outliers were determined 3SD above the mean in trial number and in reaction times) in the learning performances, 141 volunteers were analyzed in detailed in both the visual and the audiovisual paradigms ($n_{male} = 41$, age: 31.21 ± 11.51 years, range: 18 - 72 years).

4.2.1. The performance in the visual and multisensory paradigms

The median NAT necessary to learn the visual paradigm was 57 (range: 41-269, n = 141), and in the case of the multisensory paradigm it was 56 (range: 41 - 226, n = 141).

In the visual paradigm the median ALER was 0.06 (range: 0 - 0.3333) and in the multisensory paradigm it was similarly 0.06 (range: 0 - 0.3469). These values in acquisition phase didn't differ significantly (NAT Wilcoxon Matched Pairs Test Z =0.787, p = 0.431; ALER Wilcoxon Matched Pairs Test Z = 0.217, p = 0.828). In the retrieval part of the test phase the RER was moderate (median: 0.02778, range: 0 -0.4167) in the visual paradigm and it was the same in the multisensory paradigm (median: 0.02778, range: 0 - 0.4167). This difference was also not significant (Wilcoxon Matched Pairs Test Z = 1.057, p = 0.290). The same trend can be observed in the generalization part of the test phase among the GERs. In the visual and multisensory paradigms the GER median were 0.08333, (range: 0 - 1) and 0 (range: 0 -1), respectively, (Wilcoxon Matched Pairs Test Z = 1.831, p = 0.067).



Fig. 10.

Performances in the sensory guided equivalence learning paradigms.

(NAT) denotes the number of the necessary trials in the acquisition phase of the paradigm. (ALER) shows the error ratios in the acquisition phase of the paradigm.(RER) and (GER) denote the error ratios in the retrieval and generalization parts of the test phase, respectively. In each panel, the first column (light grey) shows the results in

the visual paradigm and the second column (white) demonstrates the results in the multisensory (audiovisual) paradigm. The lower margin of the boxes indicates the 25th percentile, the upper margin the 75th percentile, while the line within the boxes marks the median. The error bars (whiskers) above and below the boxes are the 90th and 10th percentiles, respectively. The dots over and under the whiskers represents the extreme outliers.

4.2.2. Latency of the correct trials in the two paradigms

Fig. 11. denotes the mean latencies of the correct trials in the acquisition phase and in the retrieval and generalization parts of the test phase in the visual and the audiovisual paradigms.



Fig. 11. Response latencies in the sensory guided equivalence learning paradigms. The ordinates show the latencies in millisecond (ms). Other conventions are the same as in Fig. 10.

We compared the latency of the correct trials among the same phases of the different paradigms. The median latency of the visual and the multisensory correct trials in the acquisition phase were not significantly different (median: 1729 ms, range: 954 - 5423 ms then visual correct trials (median: 1631 ms, range: 866 - 5084 ms, n = 141, Wilcoxon Matched Pairs Test Z = 0.588, p = 0.557) (Fig. 11.).

In contrast to the acquisition phase, the median latencies of the correct trials in the two tests differed significantly in the retrieval and the generalization parts of the test phase. The median latency of the visual correct trials was significantly longer (median: 1720 ms, range: 881-4250 ms, n = 141), then that of the multisensory correct trials (median: 1583 ms, range: 894 - 4626 ms, n = 141, Wilcoxon Matched Pairs Test Z = 3.426, p = 0.0006, Fig. 11.). In the generalization part of the test phase was the median latency longer in the visual paradigm (median: 2122 ms, range: 966 - 7314 ms, n = 138) than in the audiovisual (median: 1952 ms, range: 883 - 5638 ms, n = 141, Wilcoxon Matched Pairs Test Z = 2.743, p = 0.006, Fig. 11.).

5. Discussion

This study was the first, which examined the visually guided associative learning abilities of BPD without any comorbidities. We asked whether this mental health disorder could affect equivalence learning and related memory processes. The Rutgers Acquired Equivalence Test (Myers et al., 2003a) was originally developed to learn about the visually guided associative learning of neurological patients with dysfunction of the basal ganglia and the hippocampi. The applied equivalence learning test requires the frontostriatal networks and the hippocampi (Myers et al., 2003a). Thus the dysfunction of these structures could elicit functional cognitive alterations in BPD patients. Implicit and explicit memory functions have been studied in BPD, but the results are not clear and strongly controversy. These results observed that there are no alterations in implicit statistical learning (Hornung et al., 2008) and procedural memory processes, which are connected to the function of the basal ganglia in BPD (Beblo et al., 2006). On the other hand, Mensebach and colleagues (2009) found dysfunction in visually guided functions like visual memory, visuospatial abilities and executive functions in BPD patients (Mensebach et al., 2009). Regarding explicit memory the functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI) study did not observe differences in episodic and semantic memory, although greater cortical operation was needed to archive similar performance (Ruocco & Bahl, 2014). BPD patients did not show decreased verbal or visual episodic memory (Rentrop et al., 2008), however, these patients performed worse in the Go/No-go task, which pointes damage in response inhibition (Myers et al., 2003b). Several studies described earlier that the basal ganglia are involved in the pathogenesis in BPD (Fineberg et al., 2018; Lamers et al., 2019; Stewart et al., 2019; Wang et al., 2017). Increased gray matter volume was found in BPD patients, too (Ruocco et al., 2013; Schulze et al., 2016). Aguilar-Ortiz (2018) did not observe any changes in the in the hippocampus while other areas were affected. The cortical volume reduction was found in the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex bilaterally and in the pregenual medial frontal cortex (Aguilar-Ortiz et al., 2018).

Our results demonstrated functional alterations in the equivalence learning of the BPD patients. In the acquisition phase of the paradigm the participants have to make associations between two visual stimuli, which primarily point the intactness function of basal ganglia (Myers et al., 2003a; Packard & Knowlton, 2002; Shohamy & Wagner, 2008; White, 1997). Similarly to the BPD patients the performance was significantly decreased in other neurological or psychiatric conditions, i.e. Parkinson's disease (Myers et al., 2003a), Tourette syndrome (Moustafa et al., 2009) and adult migraine (Öze et al., 2017), which diseases are connected at least partially to the impairment of the basal ganglia. Our results demonstrated that BPD patients have impairments in visually guided associative learning abilities. The results in acquisition phase (NAT, ALER), when the participants have to learn associations, pointed out that BPD patients have difficulties with making association from two independent stimuli. These results may be explained as a behavior indicator of the earlier described basal ganglia dysfunctions in BPD.

On the other hand, in the test phase where the connected memory processes (retrieval and generalization) were investigated were no alterations in the BPD patient group. In the second phase the participants had to recall already learned (retrieval) and build new, unknown associations (transfer, generalization), which function mainly points the functions of the hippocampus and the mediotemporal lobe (Myers et al., 2008; Opitz, 2014; Shohamy & Wagner, 2008). The performances were not reduced, which could suggest normal hippocampal functions in BPD. In contrast, reduced performances were found in the retrieval and the generalization functions in patients with hippocampus-mediotemporal lobe injury (Myers et al., 2003a; Ullman & Pullman, 2015), Alzheimer's disease (Bódi et al., 2009), and adult migraine (Öze et al., 2017), which diseases are connected at least partially to the impairment of the hippocampus-mediotemporal lobe.

In case of the reaction times there were no differences between the BPD patients and healthy controls in the whole learning paradigm. Rentrop and colleagues (2008) found that the reaction times can be significantly shorter in BPD and stem from impaired response inhibition of BPD patients. Arose that the impaired response inhibition could cause the impaired performance in the acquisition phase, but the unaffected reaction times in equivalence learning results do not support this.

One limitations of the BPD study must be taken into account. This is the relatively low number of participants in the study. Altogether 23 BPD patients were included, which can be partly attributed to the strict use of criterions of the DSM-5 and the exclusion of patients with alcohol and drug abuse problem and other neurological and psychiatric comorbidities. However, despite this limitation, our research had a

significant advantage. That is, that this research analyzed associative learning in patients with clear BPD without any other comorbidities. Thus we can surely see in our sample the effect of BPD on the visual associative learning and the connected memory processes and other neurological or psychiatric comorbidities could not influence the results. Notably, the relatively small sample size could limit generalizability of the results. Moreover, the results have large statistical power and effect size value. Hence, they might be generalized beyond the population assessed. Another concern was whether the medications might influence the performance of BPD patients. The psychophysical results (NAT, ALER, RER, and GER) of the medicated and non-medicated groups were compared. However, there were no differences in terms of the investigated parameters between the medicated and non-medicated groups. Therefore, medicines had no or only minor influence on the performances in visual associative learning and connected memory processes in BPD patients.

In summary, our result in line with previous neuroimaging studies and could confirm the involvement of the basal ganglia in BPD. On the other hand, the hippocampi mediated memory processes were not altered in borderline personality disorder.

It is well known from earlier studies that both brain structures fundamentally involved in visual associative learning, the basal ganglia and the hippocampi receive not only visual but also multisensory information (Bates & Wolbers, 2014; Nagy et al., 2005; Nagy et al., 2006; Ravassard et al., 2013). A bimodal or multimodal information could be more informative in its complexity than a unimodal stimulus from the environment. Having realized, though, that we did not have normative data about the modality-dependence of the equivalence learning we aimed to develop and introduce a multisensory (auditory-visual)-guided equivalence learning paradigms in order to compare the performance of healthy volunteers in visual and audiovisual (multisensory) tasks. A specific aim of this development was to produce a new cognitive test, which could be suitable to check the learning abilities of neurological and psychiatric patients later. Special intention was played to the multisensory-guided learning whether the earlier described multisensory integration can be found in behavioral level during multisensory-guided acquired equivalence learning.

Multisensory integration could contribute to sensorimotor processes but also to cognitive functions. This multisensory facilitation has a role in visual perception

(Frassinetti et al., 2002) object recognition (Fort et al., 2002; Suied et al., 2009) emotional change recognition (Chen et al., 2016), face and voice recognition (Love et al., 2011), or person recognition (Joassin et al., 2011). The multisensory information influenced the reaction time and accuracy of answers (Hershenson, 1962; Miller, 1982; Patching & Quinlan, 2004).

Our research group developed a multisensory (audiovisual) version (SoundFace test) of the original visually guided acquired equivalence associative learning test (RAET). Our research was the first examination of the multisensory associative learning functions of basal ganglia and hippocampi in healthy humans (Eördegh et al., 2019). We have firstly applied after the validation of this test in neurological and psychiatric patient populations, too (Giricz et al., 2021; Pertich et al., 2020). The study of Eördegh (2019) examined the performances and the RTs of healthy individuals in visual and multisensory guided associative learning paradigms. The paradigm can be divided into two phases regardless of modality. The first is the acquisition phase in which the participants have to learn visual and multisensory stimulus combinations based on feedback. Our results demonstrated that the multisensory stimuli could elicit not better performances in the acquisition phase than the unimodal ones. Thus, the modality of the stimuli does not influence the performance in acquired equivalence learning in healthy participants. The response latencies did not differ significantly between the visual and multisensory paradigms in the acquisition phase. The interpretation of results could that this phase is a very old, conserved and obligatory function, for which the different modalities contribute equally during association learning processes and do not greater efficiency with multisensory stimuli. This is in agreement with the previous studies, which found the activation of the basal ganglia is enhanced at the appearance of rare stimulus associations, which is not influenced by modality (Amso et al., 2005). It cannot be ruled out that the semantic content of the stimuli could affect the learning process. Steinweg and colleagues (2017) found that semantically congruent audiovisual multisensory stimuli support multisensory integration (Steinweg & Mast, 2017). In this study we ignored the semantic contents because the task was making associations regardless of the meaning of the stimuli. In this study we applied stimuli which were mostly semantically incongruent, which could be an interpretation for the lack of multisensory integration in the acquisition phase. In contrast to healthy adults the multisensory information could facilitate the equivalence learning in childhood

(Eördegh et al., 2022). The explanation of it can be that the maximum performances were reached with the application of the audiovisual information in childhood and after it, there is no more chance to improve the performances even by the multimodal stimuli with the aging of the humans.

The second phase of the learning paradigm is the test phase, where the previously learnt acquisitions have to be recalled (retrieval) and new, unknown pairs have to be built (generalization) based on the regularities of associations. These results showed that the audiovisual performances were better but they (RER, GER) were not significantly different in the two (visual vs audiovisual) paradigms. On the other hand, the multisensory response latencies were significantly shorter than the visual ones in both the retrieval and the generalization parts of the test phase. The biggest difference in the response latencies were in the retrieval part of the test phase. If we compare the different phases of the paradigm, we can conclude that the generalization part of the test phase required the longest reaction times irrespective of the stimulus modality. This long decision time confirms that this is the most difficult part of the cognitive learning task. The multisensory information and the connected multisensory integration could improve the performances of the participants in the retrieval and generalization functions, which can obviously be observed in the significant shorter reaction times in the audiovisual paradigm.

6. Summary

Associative learning is a type of conditioning in which discrete and often different signals are linked together. A specific kind of this learning, the sensory guided associative equivalence learning was investigated in the present PhD dissertation. The original Rutgers Acquired Equivalence Test (RAET) examines the visual associative learning and the audiovisual test (SoundFace) investigates the multisensory-guided equivalence learning. Both tests (RAET and SoundFace) have the same structure only the stimuli are unimodal visual or audiovisual. The tests, irrespectively from the modalities can be divided in two main phases: the first is the acquisition phase, which depends critically from the basal ganglia, the second is the test phase (retrieval and generalization), which is connected primarily to the hippocampi.

In the RAET we have investigated the learning functions of 23 borderline personality disorder (BPD) patients and 23 age-, sex-, and educational level-matched controls. In the acquisition phase of the test, the performances were significantly weaker in BPD patients. These results support the notion that the basal ganglia are involved in the pathogenesis of BPD. In contrast, the retrieval and the generalization parts of the test phase were not influenced in BPD patients. The maintenance of retrieval and generalization (transfer) functions could indicate normal hippocampal functions in these patients and could suggest the compensatory role of the hippocampi after a weaker acquisition building.

As described above, both fundamentally-involved brain structures in the visual associative learning, the basal ganglia and the hippocampi, get not only visual, but also multisensory information. Having realized, though, that we did not have normative data about the modality-dependence of the equivalence learning we have developed and validated the audiovisual-guided (multisensory) equivalence learning paradigms in order to compare the performance of healthy volunteers in visual and audiovisual (multisensory) tasks. We compared the learning performance of 151 healthy, adult participants in the visual and the multisensory paradigms. Our results showed that visual and multisensory guided associative equivalence learning is similarly effective in healthy participants, which support that the acquisition phase is fairly independent from the modality of the stimuli. However, in the retrieval and the generalization parts

of the test phase the multisensory stimuli could facilitate the learning, which can obviously be observed in the significant shorter reaction times in the audiovisual paradigm. After the validation of the multisensory test in healthy humans we have now a new tool to investigate the cognitive alterations in different neurological and psychiatric diseases connected to the dysfunction of the basal ganglia and the hippocampi.

7. Acknowledgement

First of all, I would like to thank to Dr. habil Attila Nagy and Dr. Gabriella Eördegh, my supervisors, for their continuous help during the research and the preparation of the PhD thesis work.

I would also like to express my gratitude to Professor Gábor Jancsó for giving me the chance to participate in the Neuroscience PhD program. I also thank to Professor Gyula Sáry, who allowed me to take part in the research of the Department of Physiology.

I would like to thank the whole staff of the SZTE SZAOK Institute of Physiology Sensorimotor Research Laboratory, especially Dr. Balázs Bodosi, Kálmán Tót, Dr. Ákos Pertich, Dr. András Puszta, Dr. Attila Őze, for their professional cooperation and help in my research.

I would also thank all participants of the research.

I am also grateful to my family for motivating, supporting and paying attention to my studies and PhD work.

Finally, I would also like to thank everyone who helped or inspired me.

This PhD work was supported by grants of SZTE-SZAOK-KKA (no. 2019/270-62-2 and no. 2023/5S479).

8. References

- Aguilar-Ortiz, S., Salgado-Pineda, P., Marco-Pallarés, J., Pascual, J. C., Vega, D., Soler, J., et al. (2018). Abnormalities in gray matter volume in patients with borderline personality disorder and their relation to lifetime depression: A VBM study. *PLoS One, 13*(2), e0191946.
- Alexander, G. E., & Crutcher, M. D. (1990). Functional architecture of basal ganglia circuits: neural substrates of parallel processing. *Trends Neurosci*, 13(7), 266-271.
- Alexander, G. E., DeLong, M. R., & Strick, P. L. (1986). Parallel organization of functionally segregated circuits linking basal ganglia and cortex. *Annu Rev Neurosci*, 9, 357-381.
- American Psychiatric Association (2013). Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (5th ed.). Washington, DC.
- American Psychiatric Association (2016). Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (5th ed.). *Hun. version. Oriold és Társai Kft.*
- Amso, D., Davidson, M. C., Johnson, S. P., Glover, G., & Casey, B. J. (2005). Contributions of the hippocampus and the striatum to simple association and frequency-based learning. *Neuroimage*, 27(2), 291-298.
- Arens, E. A., Stopsack, M., Spitzer, C., Appel, K., Dudeck, M., Völzke, H., et al. (2013). Borderline personality disorder in four different age groups: a crosssectional study of community residents in Germany. *J Pers Disord*, 27(2), 196-207.
- Ashby, F. G., Alfonso-Reese, L. A., Turken, A. U., & Waldron, E. M. (1998). A neuropsychological theory of multiple systems in category learning. *Psychol Rev*, 105(3), 442-481.
- Ashby, F. G., & Maddox, W. T. (2005). Human category learning. *Annu Rev Psychol*, 56, 149-178.
- Atkinson, R. C., & Shiffrin, R. M. (1968). Human memory: A proposed system and its control processes. *Psychology of Learning and Motivation.*
- Ball, J. S., & Links, P. S. (2009). Borderline personality disorder and childhood trauma: evidence for a causal relationship. *Curr Psychiatry Rep, 11*(1), 63-68.
- Balleine, B. W., Delgado, M. R., & Hikosaka, O. (2007). The role of the dorsal striatum in reward and decision-making. *J Neurosci*, 27(31), 8161-8165.
- Bassili, J. N., Smith, M. C., & MacLeod, C. M. (1989). Auditory and visual word-stem completion: Separating data-driven and conceptually driven processes. *The Quarterly Journal of Experimental Psychology*. 41 (3), 439 - 453.

- Bates, S. L., & Wolbers, T. (2014). How cognitive aging affects multisensory integration of navigational cues. *Neurobiol Aging*, 35(12), 2761-2769.
- Batterink, L. J., Paller, K. A., & Reber, P. J. (2019). Understanding the Neural Bases of Implicit and Statistical Learning. *Top Cogn Sci*, 11(3), 482-503.
- Battle, D. E. (2013). Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM). *Codas*, 25(2), 191-192.
- Bazanis, E., Rogers, R. D., Dowson, J. H., Taylor, P., Meux, C., Staley, C., et al. (2002). Neurocognitive deficits in decision-making and planning of patients with DSM-III-R borderline personality disorder. *Psychol Med*, 32(8), 1395-1405.
- Beblo, T., Saavedra, A. S., Mensebach, C., Lange, W., Markowitsch, H. J., Rau, H., et al. (2006). Deficits in visual functions and neuropsychological inconsistency in Borderline Personality Disorder. *Psychiatry Res*, 145(2-3), 127-135.
- Berry, D. C., & Dienes, Z. (1991). The relationship between implicit memory and implicit learning. *Brittish Journal of Psychology*. 82 (3), 359 373.
- Black, D. W., Gunter, T., Allen, J., Blum, N., Arndt, S., Wenman, G., et al. (2007). Borderline personality disorder in male and female offenders newly committed to prison. *Compr Psychiatry*, 48(5), 400-405.
- Blair, R. J. (2016). The Neurobiology of Impulsive Aggression. J Child Adolesc Psychopharmacol, 26(1), 4-9.
- Bonardi, C., Rey, V., Richmond, M., & Hall, G. (1993). Acquired equivalence of cues in pigeon autoshaping: Effects of training with common consequences and common antecedents. *Animal Learning and Behavior*. 21, 369 - 376.
- Brambilla, P., Soloff, P. H., Sala, M., Nicoletti, M. A., Keshavan, M. S., & Soares, J. C. (2004). Anatomical MRI study of borderline personality disorder patients. *Psychiatry Res*, 131(2), 125-133.
- Bódi, N., Csibri, E., Myers, C. E., Gluck, M. A., & Kéri, S. (2009). Associative learning, acquired equivalence, and flexible generalization of knowledge in mild Alzheimer disease. *Cogn Behav Neurol*, 22(2), 89-94.
- Carrasco, J. L., Tajima-Pozo, K., Díaz-Marsá, M., Casado, A., López-Ibor, J. J., Arrazola, J., et al. (2012). Microstructural white matter damage at orbitofrontal areas in borderline personality disorder. *J Affect Disord*, *139*(2), 149-153.
- Chanen, A. M., McCutcheon, L. K., Jovev, M., Jackson, H. J., & McGorry, P. D. (2007). Prevention and early intervention for borderline personality disorder. *Med J Aust*, 187(S7), S18-21.
- Chapman, A. L. (2019). Borderline personality disorder and emotion dysregulation. *Dev Psychopathol, 31*(3), 1143-1156.

- Chapman, A. L., & Gratz, K. L. (2007). The Borderline Personality Disorder Survival Guide: Everything You Need to know About Living with BPD. Oakland, CA: New Harbinger Publicantions. 47 - 48.
- Chen, X., Pan, Z., Wang, P., Yang, X., Liu, P., You, X., et al. (2016). The integration of facial and vocal cues during emotional change perception: EEG markers. *Soc Cogn Affect Neurosci*, 11(7), 1152-1161.
- Chudler, E. H., Sugiyama, K., & Dong, W. K. (1995). Multisensory convergence and integration in the neostriatum and globus pallidus of the rat. *Brain Res*, 674(1), 33-45.
- Clark, R. E., & Squire, L. R. (1998). Classical conditioning and brain systems: the role of awareness. *Science*, 280(5360), 77-81.
- Cohen, N. J., & Squire, L. R. (1980). Preserved learning and retention of patternanalyzing skill in amnesia: dissociation of knowing how and knowing that. *Science*, 210(4466), 207-210.
- Cohen, P. (2008). Child development and personality disorder. *Psychiatr Clin North Am*, *31*(3), 477-493.
- Crowell, S. E., & Kaufman, E. A. (2016). Borderline personality disorder and the emerging field of developmental neuroscience. *Personal Disord*, 7(4), 324-333.
- D'Argembeau, A., Xue, G., Lu, Z. L., Van der Linden, M., & Bechara, A. (2008). Neural correlates of envisioning emotional events in the near and far future. *Neuroimage*, 40(1), 398-407.
- De La Fuente, J. M., Goldman, S., Stanus, E., Vizuete, C., Morlán, I., Bobes, J., et al. (1997). Brain glucose metabolism in borderline personality disorder. *J Psychiatr Res*, 31(5), 531-541.
- Delgado, M. R. (2007). Reward-related responses in the human striatum. *Ann N Y Acad Sci, 1104*, 70-88.
- Deshpande, N., & Patla, A. E. (2005). Dynamic visual-vestibular integration during goal directed human locomotion. *Exp Brain Res, 166*(2), 237-247.
- Diederich, A., & Colonius, H. (2004). Bimodal and trimodal multisensory enhancement: effects of stimulus onset and intensity on reaction time. *Percept Psychophys*, 66(8), 1388-1404.
- Dong, Y., Fukuyama, H., Honda, M., Okada, T., Hanakawa, T., Nakamura, K., et al. (2000). Essential role of the right superior parietal cortex in Japanese kana mirror reading: An fMRI study. *Brain, 123 (Pt 4)*, 790-799.
- Doyon, J., Owen, A. M., Petrides, M., Sziklas, V., & Evans, A. C. (1996). Functional anatomy of visuomotor skill learning in human subjects examined with positron emission tomography. *Eur J Neurosci*, 8(4), 637-648.

- Ellis, R. (2009). Implicit and explicit learning, knowledge and instruction. *Implicit and explicit knowledge in second language learning, testing and teaching.* 42, 3 25.
- Eördegh, G., Tót, K., Kelemen, A., Kiss, Á., Bodosi, B., Hegedűs, A., et al. (2022). The Influence of Stimulus Complexity on the Effectiveness of Visual Associative Learning. *Neuroscience*, 487, 26-34.
- Fineberg, S. K., Leavitt, J., Stahl, D. S., Kronemer, S., Landry, C. D., Alexander-Bloch, A., et al. (2018). Differential Valuation and Learning From Social and Nonsocial Cues in Borderline Personality Disorder. *Biol Psychiatry*, 84(11), 838-845.
- Fonyó, A. (2011). Az orvosi élettan tankönyve (5th ed.). *Medicina Könyvkiadó Zrt, Budapest.*
- Fort, A., Delpuech, C., Pernier, J., & Giard, M. H. (2002). Dynamics of corticosubcortical cross-modal operations involved in audio-visual object detection in humans. *Cereb Cortex*, 12(10), 1031-1039.
- Frassinetti, F., Bolognini, N., & Làdavas, E. (2002). Enhancement of visual perception by crossmodal visuo-auditory interaction. *Exp Brain Res, 147*(3), 332-343.
- Gabrieli, J. D., McGlinchey-Berroth, R., Carrillo, M. C., Gluck, M. A., Cermak, L. S., & Disterhoft, J. F. (1995). Intact delay-eyeblink classical conditioning in amnesia. *Behav Neurosci, 109*(5), 819-827.
- Giricz, Z., Pertich, Á., Őze, A., Puszta, A., Fehér, Á., Eördegh, G., et al. (2021). Visually guided associative learning in pediatric and adult migraine without aura. *Cephalalgia*, 41(2), 176-184.
- Giuliani, N. R., Calhoun, V. D., Pearlson, G. D., Francis, A., & Buchanan, R. W. (2005). Voxel-based morphometry versus region of interest: a comparison of two methods for analyzing gray matter differences in schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res*, 74(2-3), 135-147.
- Glosser, G. (2001). Neurobehavioral aspects of movement disorders. *Neurol Clin*, 19(3), 535-551.
- Godfroy-Cooper, M., Sandor, P. M., Miller, J. D., & Welch, R. B. (2015). The interaction of vision and audition in two-dimensional space. *Front Neurosci*, 9, 311.
- Goodman, M., New, A., & Siever, L. (2004). Trauma, genes, and the neurobiology of personality disorders. *Ann N Y Acad Sci, 1032*, 104-116.
- Goyer, P. F., Andreason, P. J., Semple, W. E., Clayton, A. H., King, A. C., Compton-Toth, B. A., et al. (1994). Positron-emission tomography and personality disorders. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 10(1), 21-28.

- Graf, P., & Schacter, D. L. (1985). Implicit and explicit memory for new associations in normal and amnesic subjects. *J Exp Psychol Learn Mem Cogn*, 11(3), 501-518.
- Grafton, S. T., Hazeltine, E., & Ivry, R. (1995). Functional mapping of sequence learning in normal humans. *J Cogn Neurosci*, 7(4), 497-510.
- Grahn, J. A., Parkinson, J. A., & Owen, A. M. (2008). The cognitive functions of the caudate nucleus. *Prog Neurobiol*, 86(3), 141-155.
- Gratz, K., L., & Tull, M. T. (2010). Emotion regulation as a mechanism of change in acceptance- and mindfulness-based treatments. *Assessing mindfulness and acceptance: Illuminating the processes of change.* 107 133.
- Grossman, R., Yehuda, R., & Siever, L. (1997). The dexamethasone suppression test and glucocorticoid receptors in borderline personality disorder. *Ann N Y Acad Sci, 821*, 459-464.
- Guilé, J. M., Boissel, L., Alaux-Cantin, S., & de La Rivière, S. G. (2018). Borderline personality disorder in adolescents: prevalence, diagnosis, and treatment strategies. *Adolesc Health Med Ther*, 9, 199-210.
- Gunderson, J. G., & Sabo, A. N. (1993). The phenomenological and conceptual interface between borderline personality disorder and PTSD. *Am J Psychiatry*, *150*(1), 19-27.
- Gunderson, J. G., Zanarini, M. C., Choi-Kain, L. W., Mitchell, K. S., Jang, K. L., & Hudson, J. I. (2011). Family study of borderline personality disorder and its sectors of psychopathology. *Arch Gen Psychiatry*, 68(7), 753-762.
- Heindel, W. C., Salmon, D. P., Shults, C. W., Walicke, P. A., & Butters, N. (1989). Neuropsychological evidence for multiple implicit memory systems: a comparison of Alzheimer's, Huntington's, and Parkinson's disease patients. J Neurosci, 9(2), 582-587.
- Hendelman, W. (2006). Atlas of functional neuroanatomy. Taylor and Francis.
- Herman, J. L. (1992). Trauma and recovery. New York: Basic Books.
- Hershenson, M. (1962). Reacion time as a measure of intersensory facilitation. *J Exp Psychol.* 63, 289 293.
- Hornung, O. P., Regen, F., Warnstedt, C., Anghelescu, I., Danker-Hopfe, H., Heuser, I., et al. (2008). Declarative and procedural memory consolidation during sleep in patients with borderline personality disorder. *J Psychiatr Res, 42*(8), 653-658.
- Irle, E., Lange, C., & Sachsse, U. (2005). Reduced size and abnormal asymmetry of parietal cortex in women with borderline personality disorder. *Biol Psychiatry*, *57*(2), 173-182.

- Jacoby, L. L., & Dallas, M. (1981). On the relationship between autobiographical memory and perceptual learning. *J Exp Psychol Gen*, 110(3), 306-340.
- Joassin, F., Pesenti, M., Maurage, P., Verreckt, E., Bruyer, R., & Campanella, S. (2011). Cross-modal interactions between human faces and voices involved in person recognition. *Cortex*, 47(3), 367-376.
- Juengling, F. D., Schmahl, C., Hesslinger, B., Ebert, D., Bremner, J. D., Gostomzyk, J., et al. (2003). Positron emission tomography in female patients with borderline personality disorder. *J Psychiatr Res*, 37(2), 109-115.
- Kaess, M., Brunner, R., & Chanen, A. (2014). Borderline personality disorder in adolescence. *Pediatrics*, 134(4), 782-793.
- Kandel, E. R., Schwartz, J. H., Jessell, T. M., Siegelbaum, S. A., & Hudspeth, A. J. (2013). *Principles of neural science*. McGraw-Hill Medical Inc.
- Kluft, R. P. (1990). Incest-Related Syndromes of Adult Psychopathology. *American Psychiatric Pub. Inc.* 83: 89.
- Knopman, D., & Nissen, M. J. (1991). Procedural learning is impaired in Huntington's disease: evidence from the serial reaction time task. *Neuropsychologia*, 29(3), 245-254.
- Knowlton, B. J., Mangels, J. A., & Squire, L. R. (1996). A neostriatal habit learning system in humans. *Science*, 273(5280), 1399-1402.
- Kéri, S., Nagy, O., Kelemen, O., Myers, C. E., & Gluck, M. A. (2005). Dissociation between medial temporal lobe and basal ganglia memory systems in schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res*, 77(2-3), 321-328.
- Laforce, R., & Doyon, J. (2001). Distinct contribution of the striatum and cerebellum to motor learning. *Brain Cogn*, 45(2), 189-211.
- Lamers, A., Toepper, M., Fernando, S. C., Schlosser, N., Bauer, E., Woermann, F., et al. (2019). Nonacceptance of negative emotions in women with borderline personality disorder: association with neuroactivity of the dorsal striatum. J Psychiatry Neurosci, 44(5), 303-312.
- Lanz, F., Moret, V., Rouiller, E. M., & Loquet, G. (2013). Multisensory Integration in Non-Human Primates during a Sensory-Motor Task. *Front Hum Neurosci*, 7, 799.
- Lee, H., Stirnberg, R., Stöcker, T., & Axmacher, N. (2017). Audiovisual integration supports face-name associative memory formation. *Cogn Neurosci*, 8(4), 177-192.
- Leonardelli, E., Braun, C., Weisz, N., Lithari, C., Occelli, V., & Zampini, M. (2015). Prestimulus oscillatory alpha power and connectivity patterns predispose perceptual integration of an audio and a tactile stimulus. *Hum Brain Mapp*, 36(9), 3486-3498.

- Li, W., Qin, W., Liu, H., Fan, L., Wang, J., Jiang, T., et al. (2013). Subregions of the human superior frontal gyrus and their connections. *Neuroimage*, *78*, 46-58.
- Lis, E., Greenfield, B., Henry, M., Guilé, J. M., & Dougherty, G. (2007). Neuroimaging and genetics of borderline personality disorder: a review. J Psychiatry Neurosci, 32(3), 162-173.
- Love, S. A., Pollick, F. E., & Latinus, M. (2011). Cerebral correlates and statistical criteria of cross-modal face and voice integration. *Seeing Perceiving*, 24(4), 351-367.
- Malkova, L., & Mishkin, M. (2003). One-trial memory for object-place associations after separate lesions of hippocampus and posterior parahippocampal region in the monkey. *J Neurosci*, 23(5), 1956-1965.
- Mayes, A. R. (1995). Memory and amnesia. Behav Brain Res, 66(1-2), 29-36.
- McGarry, L. M., & Carter, A. G. (2017). Prefrontal Cortex Drives Distinct Projection Neurons in the Basolateral Amygdala. *Cell Rep*, 21(6), 1426-1433.
- McHaffie, J. G., Stanford, T. R., Stein, B. E., Coizet, V., & Redgrave, P. (2005). Subcortical loops through the basal ganglia. *Trends Neurosci, 28*(8), 401-407.
- Meeter, M., Shohamy, D., & Myers, C. E. (2009). Acquired equivalence changes stimulus representations. *J Exp Anal Behav*, *91*(1), 127-141.
- Mensebach, C., Beblo, T., Driessen, M., Wingenfeld, K., Mertens, M., Rullkoetter, N., et al. (2009). Neural correlates of episodic and semantic memory retrieval in borderline personality disorder: an fMRI study. *Psychiatry Res*, 171(2), 94-105.
- Miller, J. (1982). Divided attention: evidence for coactivation with redundant signals. *Cogn Psychol*, 14(2), 247-279.
- Minciacchi, D., Tassinari, G., & Antonini, A. (1987). Visual and somatosensory integration in the anterior ectosylvian cortex of the cat. *Brain Res, 410*(1), 21-31.
- Minzenberg, M. J., Fan, J., New, A. S., Tang, C. Y., & Siever, L. J. (2007). Frontolimbic dysfunction in response to facial emotion in borderline personality disorder: an event-related fMRI study. *Psychiatry Res*, 155(3), 231-243.
- Moll, T. (2018). Mental Health Primer.
- Moustafa, A. A., Myers, C. E., & Gluck, M. A. (2009). A neurocomputational model of classical conditioning phenomena: a putative role for the hippocampal region in associative learning. *Brain Res, 1276*, 180-195.
- Myers, C. E., Hopkins, R. O., DeLuca, J., Moore, N. B., Wolansky, L. J., Sumner, J. M., et al. (2008). Learning and generalization deficits in patients with memory impairments due to anterior communicating artery aneurysm rupture or hypoxic brain injury. *Neuropsychology*, 22(5), 681-686.

- Myers, C. E., Shohamy, D., Gluck, M. A., Grossman, S., Kluger, A., Ferris, S., et al. (2003a). Dissociating hippocampal versus basal ganglia contributions to learning and transfer. *J Cogn Neurosci*, 15(2), 185-193.
- Myers, C. E., Shohamy, D., Gluck, M. A., Grossman, S., Onlaor, S., & Kapur, N. (2003b). Dissociating medial temporal and basal ganglia memory systems with a latent learning task. *Neuropsychologia*, *41*(14), 1919-1928.
- Nagy, A., Eördegh, G., Norita, M., & Benedek, G. (2003). Visual receptive field properties of neurons in the caudate nucleus. *Eur J Neurosci, 18*(2), 449-452.
- Nagy, A., Eördegh, G., Paróczy, Z., Márkus, Z., & Benedek, G. (2006). Multisensory integration in the basal ganglia. *Eur J Neurosci, 24*(3), 917-924.
- Nagy, A., Paróczy, Z., Norita, M., & Benedek, G. (2005). Multisensory responses and receptive field properties of neurons in the substantia nigra and in the caudate nucleus. *Eur J Neurosci*, 22(2), 419-424.
- Nambu, A. (2008). Seven problems on the basal ganglia. *Curr Opin Neurobiol*, 18(6), 595-604.
- Nissen, M. J., & Bullemer, P. (1987). Attentional requirements of learning: Evidence from performance measures. *Cognitive Pyschology*. 19, 1 32.
- O'Neill, A., & Frodl, T. (2012). Brain structure and function in borderline personality disorder. *Brain Struct Funct*, 217(4), 767-782.
- Ofen, N., Kao, Y. C., Sokol-Hessner, P., Kim, H., Whitfield-Gabrieli, S., & Gabrieli, J. D. (2007). Development of the declarative memory system in the human brain. *Nat Neurosci*, 10(9), 1198-1205.
- Opitz, B. (2014). Memory function and the hippocampus. *Front Neurol Neurosci, 34*, 51-59.
- O'keefe, J., & Nadel, L. (1978). The Hippocampus as a Cognitive Map. *Oxfrod: Clarendon Press.*
- Öze, A., Nagy, A., Benedek, G., Bodosi, B., Kéri, S., Pálinkás, É., et al. (2017). Acquired equivalence and related memory processes in migraine without aura. *Cephalalgia*, 37(6), 532-540.
- Packard, M. G., & Knowlton, B. J. (2002). Learning and memory functions of the Basal Ganglia. *Annu Rev Neurosci, 25*, 563-593.
- Parent, A., & Hazrati, L. N. (1995). Functional anatomy of the basal ganglia. I. The cortico-basal ganglia-thalamo-cortical loop. *Brain Res Brain Res Rev, 20*(1), 91-127.
- Patching, G. R., & Quinlan, P. T. (2004). Cross-modal integration of simple auditory and visual events. *Percept Psychophys*, 66(1), 131-140.

- Pertich, Á., Eördegh, G., Németh, L., Hegedüs, O., Öri, D., Puszta, A., et al. (2020). Maintained Visual-, Auditory-, and Multisensory-Guided Associative Learning Functions in Children With Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder. *Front Psychiatry*, 11, 571053.
- Quadrio, C. (2005). Axis One/Axis Two: A disordered borderline. *Journal of Psychiatry*.
- Rauch, S. L., Whalen, P. J., Savage, C. R., Curran, T., Kendrick, A., Brown, H. D., et al. (1997). Striatal recruitment during an implicit sequence learning task as measured by functional magnetic resonance imaging. *Hum Brain Mapp*, 5(2), 124-132.
- Ravassard, P., Kees, A., Willers, B., Ho, D., Aharoni, D. A., Cushman, J., et al. (2013). Multisensory control of hippocampal spatiotemporal selectivity. *Science*, 340(6138), 1342-1346.
- Reber, A. S. (1989). Implicit learning and tacit knowledge. *Journal of experimental psychology: General.* 118 (3), 219.
- Reber, P. J., & Squire, L. R. (1994). Parallel brain systems for learning with and without awareness. *Learn Mem, 1*(4), 217-229.
- Reber, P. J., & Squire, L. R. (1998). Encapsulation of implicit and explicit memory in sequence learning. *J Cogn Neurosci, 10*(2), 248-263.
- Regenbogen, C., Kellermann, T., Seubert, J., Schneider, D. A., Gur, R. E., Derntl, B., et al. (2015). Neural responses to dynamic multimodal stimuli and pathologyspecific impairments of social cognition in schizophrenia and depression. *Br J Psychiatry*, 206(3), 198-205.
- Reig, R., & Silberberg, G. (2014). Multisensory integration in the mouse striatum. *Neuron*, *83*(5), 1200-1212.
- Rentrop, M., Backenstrass, M., Jaentsch, B., Kaiser, S., Roth, A., Unger, J., et al. (2008). Response inhibition in borderline personality disorder: performance in a Go/Nogo task. *Psychopathology*, 41(1), 50-57.
- Rosenthal, M. Z., Cheavens, J. S., Lejuez, C. W., & Lynch, T. R. (2005). Thought suppression mediates the relationship between negative affect and borderline personality disorder symptoms. *Behav Res Ther*, *43*(9), 1173-1185.
- Ruocco, A. C., Amirthavasagam, S., Choi-Kain, L. W., & McMain, S. F. (2013). Neural correlates of negative emotionality in borderline personality disorder: an activation-likelihood-estimation meta-analysis. *Biol Psychiatry*, 73(2), 153-160.
- Ruocco, A. C., Amirthavasagam, S., & Zakzanis, K. K. (2012). Amygdala and hippocampal volume reductions as candidate endophenotypes for borderline personality disorder: a meta-analysis of magnetic resonance imaging studies. *Psychiatry Res, 201*(3), 245-252.

- Ruocco, A. C., & Bahl, N. (2014). Material-specific discrepancies in verbal and visual episodic memory in borderline personality disorder. *Psychiatry Res, 220*(1-2), 694-697.
- Rüsch, N., Bracht, T., Kreher, B. W., Schnell, S., Glauche, V., Il'yasov, K. A., et al. (2010). Reduced interhemispheric structural connectivity between anterior cingulate cortices in borderline personality disorder. *Psychiatry Res*, 181(2), 151-154.
- Rüsch, N., van Elst, L. T., Ludaescher, P., Wilke, M., Huppertz, H. J., Thiel, T., et al. (2003). A voxel-based morphometric MRI study in female patients with borderline personality disorder. *Neuroimage*, 20(1), 385-392.
- Sakata, S., Yamamori, T., & Sakurai, Y. (2004). Behavioral studies of auditory-visual spatial recognition and integration in rats. *Exp Brain Res*, 159(4), 409-417.
- Salavert, J., Gasol, M., Vieta, E., Cervantes, A., Trampal, C., & Gispert, J. D. (2011). Fronto-limbic dysfunction in borderline personality disorder: a 18F-FDG positron emission tomography study. J Affect Disord, 131(1-3), 260-267.
- Sampedro, F., Farrés, C. C. I., Soler, J., Elices, M., Schmidt, C., Corripio, I., et al. (2021). Structural brain abnormalities in borderline personality disorder correlate with clinical severity and predict psychotherapy response. *Brain Imaging Behav*, 15(5), 2502-2512.
- Schacter, D. L., & Buckner, R. L. (1998). Priming and the brain. *Neuron*, 20(2), 185-195.
- Schuchard, J., & Thompson, C. K. (2014). Implicit and explicit learning in individuals with agrammatic aphasia. *J Psycholinguist Res, 43*(3), 209-224.
- Schulze, L., Schmahl, C., & Niedtfeld, I. (2016). Neural Correlates of Disturbed Emotion Processing in Borderline Personality Disorder: A Multimodal Meta-Analysis. *Biol Psychiatry*, 79(2), 97-106.
- Shohamy, D., & Wagner, A. D. (2008). Integrating memories in the human brain: hippocampal-midbrain encoding of overlapping events. *Neuron*, 60(2), 378-389.
- Soloff, P., Nutche, J., Goradia, D., & Diwadkar, V. (2008). Structural brain abnormalities in borderline personality disorder: a voxel-based morphometry study. *Psychiatry Res*, 164(3), 223-236.
- Soloff, P. H., Meltzer, C. C., Becker, C., Greer, P. J., Kelly, T. M., & Constantine, D. (2003). Impulsivity and prefrontal hypometabolism in borderline personality disorder. *Psychiatry Res*, 123(3), 153-163.
- Squire, L. R., & Dede, A. J. (2015). Conscious and unconscious memory systems. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol*, 7(3), a021667.
- Squire, L. R., Knowlton, B., & Musen, G. (1993). The structure and organization of memory. Annu Rev Psychol, 44, 453-495.

- Squire, L. R., Stark, C. E., & Clark, R. E. (2004). The medial temporal lobe. *Annu Rev Neurosci, 27*, 279-306.
- Squire, L. R., & Zola, S. M. (1996). Structure and function of declarative and nondeclarative memory systems. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 93(24), 13515-13522.
- Stathis, P., Panourias, I. G., Themistocleous, M. S., & Sakas, D. E. (2007). Connections of the basal ganglia with the limbic system: implications for neuromodulation therapies of anxiety and affective disorders. *Acta Neurochir Suppl*, 97(Pt 2), 575-586.
- Steinweg, B., & Mast, F. W. (2017). Semantic incongruity influences response caution in audio-visual integration. *Exp Brain Res*, 235(1), 349-363.
- Stewart, J. G., Singleton, P., Benau, E. M., Foti, D., Allchurch, H., Kaplan, C. S., et al. (2019). Neurophysiological activity following rewards and losses among female adolescents and young adults with borderline personality disorder. J Abnorm Psychol, 128(6), 610-621.
- Suied, C., Bonneel, N., & Viaud-Delmon, I. (2009). Integration of auditory and visual information in the recognition of realistic objects. *Exp Brain Res*, 194(1), 91-102.
- Svaldi, J., Philipsen, A., & Matthies, S. (2012). Risky decision-making in borderline personality disorder. *Psychiatry Res*, 197(1-2), 112-118.
- Swartz, M., Blazer, D., George, L., & Winfield, I. (1990). Estimating the prevalence of borderline personality disorder in the community. *Journal of Personality Disorders*. 4 (3), 257 - 272.
- Sáringer, S., Fehér, Á., Sáry, G., & Kaposvári, P. (2022). Online measurement of learning temporal statistical structure in categorization tasks. *Mem Cognit*, 50(7), 1530-1545.
- Thompson, R. F., & Krupa, D. J. (1994). Organization of memory traces in the mammalian brain. *Annu Rev Neurosci, 17*, 519-549.
- Thompson, R. F., & Steinmetz, J. E. (2009). The role of the cerebellum in classical conditioning of discrete behavioral responses. *Neuroscience*, *162*(3), 732-755.
- Torgersen, S., Lygren, S., Oien, P. A., Skre, I., Onstad, S., Edvardsen, J., et al. (2000). A twin study of personality disorders. *Compr Psychiatry*, 41(6), 416-425.
- Tricomi, E. M., Delgado, M. R., & Fiez, J. A. (2004). Modulation of caudate activity by action contingency. *Neuron*, *41*(2), 281-292.
- Tulving, E., & Schacter, D. L. (1990). Priming and human memory systems. *Science*, 247(4940), 301-306.

- Turken, A., Whitfield-Gabrieli, S., Bammer, R., Baldo, J. V., Dronkers, N. F., & Gabrieli, J. D. (2008). Cognitive processing speed and the structure of white matter pathways: convergent evidence from normal variation and lesion studies. *Neuroimage*, 42(2), 1032-1044.
- Ullman, M. T., & Pullman, M. Y. (2015). A compensatory role for declarative memory in neurodevelopmental disorders. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev, 51*, 205-222.
- Unoka, Z., & J Richman, M. (2016). Neuropsychological deficits in BPD patients and the moderator effects of co-occurring mental disorders: A meta-analysis. *Clin Psychol Rev, 44*, 1-12.
- van Atteveldt, N., Murray, M. M., Thut, G., & Schroeder, C. E. (2014). Multisensory integration: flexible use of general operations. *Neuron*, *81*(6), 1240-1253.
- Wallace, M. T., Meredith, M. A., & Stein, B. E. (1998). Multisensory integration in the superior colliculus of the alert cat. *J Neurophysiol*, *80*(2), 1006-1010.
- Wang, G. Y., van Eijk, J., Demirakca, T., Sack, M., Krause-Utz, A., Cackowski, S., et al. (2017). ACC GABA levels are associated with functional activation and connectivity in the fronto-striatal network during interference inhibition in patients with borderline personality disorder. *Neuroimage*, 147, 164-174.
- Wang, W. Y., Hu, L., Valentini, E., Xie, X. B., Cui, H. Y., & Hu, Y. (2012). Dynamic characteristics of multisensory facilitation and inhibition. *Cogn Neurodyn*, 6(5), 409-419.
- Ward-Robinson, J., & Hall, G. (1999). The role of mediated conditioning in acquired equivalence. *Q J Exp Psychol B*, 52(4), 335-350.
- White, N. M. (1997). Mnemonic functions of the basal ganglia. *Curr Opin Neurobiol*, 7(2), 164-169.
- Willingham, D. B., Koroshetz, W. J., & Peterson, E. W. (1996). Motor skills have diverse neural bases: Spared and impaired skill acquisition in Huntington's disease. *Neuropsychology*. 10, 315 - 21.
- Wolf, R. C., Thomann, P. A., Sambataro, F., Vasic, N., Schmid, M., & Wolf, N. D. (2012). Orbitofrontal cortex and impulsivity in borderline personality disorder: an MRI study of baseline brain perfusion. *Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci*, 262(8), 677-685.
- World Health Organization (2004). International Statistical Classification of Diseases and Related Health Problems tenth revision; ICD-10 (2th ed.).
- Yang, X., Hu, L., Zeng, J., Tan, Y., & Cheng, B. (2016). Default mode network and frontolimbic gray matter abnormalities in patients with borderline personality disorder: A voxel-based meta-analysis. *Sci Rep*, 6, 34247.

- Zago, L., & Tzourio-Mazoyer, N. (2002). Distinguishing visuospatial working memory and complex mental calculation areas within the parietal lobes. *Neurosci Lett*, 331(1), 45-49.
- Zanarini, M. C., & Frankenburg, F. R. (1997). Pathways to the development of borderline personality disorder. *J Pers Disord*, 11(1), 93-104.
- Zanarini, M. C., Frankenburg, F. R., Dubo, E. D., Sickel, A. E., Trikha, A., Levin, A., et al. (1998). Axis I comorbidity of borderline personality disorder. *Am J Psychiatry*, 155(12), 1733-1739.

Heliyon 8 (2022) e10823

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Heliyon

journal homepage: www.cell.com/heliyon



Research article

CelPress

Visually guided equivalence learning in borderline personality disorder

Anett Rosu^a, Kálmán Tót^b, György Godó^c, Szabolcs Kéri^b, Attila Nagy^{b,*,1}, Gabriella Eördegh^{d,1}

^a Psychiatric Outpatient Care, Hospital of Orosháza, Orosháza, Hungary

^b Department of Physiology, Faculty of Medicine, University of Szeged, Szeged, Hungary

^c Psychiatric Outpatient Care, Hospital of Hódmezővásárhely, Hódmezővásárhely, Hungary

^d Faculty of Health Sciences and Social Studies, University of Szeged, Szeged, Hungary

ARTICLE INFO

Keywords: Borderline personality disorder Acquired equivalence learning Basal ganglia Hippocampus Associative learning Cognitive psychology

ABSTRACT

The hallmark symptoms of borderline personality disorder are maladaptive behavior and impulsive emotional reactions. However, the condition is occasionally associated with cognitive alterations. Recently, it has been found that the function of the basal ganglia and the hippocampi might also be affected. Hence, deterioration in learning and memory processes associated with these structures is expected. Thus, we sought to investigate visually guided associative learning, a type of conditioning associated with the basal ganglia and the hippocampi, in patients suffering from borderline personality disorder. In this study, the modified Rutgers Acquired Equivalence Test was used to assess associative learning in 23 patients and age-, sex-, and educational level-matched controls. The acquisition phase of the test, which is associated primarily with the frontostriatal loops, was altered in patients with borderline personality disorder: the patients exhibited poor performance in terms of building associations. However, the retrieval and generalization functions, which are primarily associated with the hippocampi and the medial temporal lobes, were not affected. These results corroborate that the basal ganglia are affected in borderline personality disorder. However, maintained retrieval and generalization do not support the assumption that the hippocampi are affected too.

1. Introduction

Borderline personality disorder (BPD) is a mental health disorder characterized by maladaptive behavior (long-term pattern of unstable interpersonal relationships and distorted sense of self) and impulsive emotional reactions. Its prevalence rate is 2–3% in the adult population, making it is the most common personality disorder [1]. The disorder usually begins during young adulthood and it has a significantly higher prevalence in women than in men [2].

The neural correlates of BPD have not been fully elucidated. Based on neuroimaging studies, the basal ganglia, the orbitofrontal cortex, the amygdalae, and probably the hippocampi are affected [3, 4, 5, 6, 7]. Due to dysfunction of these brain structures, patients with borderline personality disorder may exhibit altered cognition as compared to persons free of the disorder [8, 9, 10]. However, no information is available about the associative learning abilities of these patients.

Associative learning is an ancient learning function, which is associated with the function of the frontal cortex, the basal ganglia and the hippocampi. The visually guided Rutgers Acquired Equivalence Test [11]

assesses this specific type of learning. The test is divided into two main phases: the acquisition phase and the test phase. The acquisition phase relies on the function of the basal ganglia. Hence, association building between two different visual stimuli with the help of feedback about the correctness of responses can be evaluated. Meanwhile, the test phase, which does not involve feedback, mainly depends on the function of the hippocampi and the medial temporal lobe. The test phase is further divided into two parts: retrieval and generalization. During the retrieval part, previously learned associations are presented, while during the generalization part, the task of the test subject is to make hitherto not learned associations which are predictable from what has already been learned.

Equivalence learning was investigated in several psychiatric and neurological disorders, including Parkinson's disease, Alzheimer's disease, schizophrenia, obsessive compulsive disorder, and migraine without aura. These conditions are characterized by the dysfunction of the basal ganglia and hippocampi [11, 12, 13, 14, 15, 16]. As mentioned before, these structures are thought to be dysfunctional in BPD too [11, 12, 13, 14, 15, 16]. However, it is not known whether this also shows in

* Corresponding author.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.heliyon.2022.e10823

Received 28 April 2021; Received in revised form 10 December 2021; Accepted 23 September 2022

E-mail address: nagyneegabi@gmail.com (A. Nagy).

¹ Gabriella Eördegh and Attila Nagy contributed equally to this study.

^{2405-8440/© 2022} The Authors. Published by Elsevier Ltd. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).

the related cognitive processes of BPD patients, such as associative learning. This is what we sought to investigate in this study with the Rutgers Acquired Equivalence Test. As the literature considers both the basal ganglia and the hippocampi to be affected in BPD, we hypothesized that our patients would underperform matched controls in both the acquisition and test phases.

2. Results

In the present study, we analyzed the associative learning abilities of BPD patients without otological, opthalmological, neurological, or psychiatric comorbidities (n = 23). All participants could complete the applied Rutgers Acquired Equivalence Test.

2.1. Comparison of BPD patients and controls

In the acquisition phase of the paradigm, the patient group's performance was significantly inferior to that of the control group (Figure 1).

The median NATs of the patient and control groups were 71.0 (range: 45.0–185.0) and 50.0 (range: 42.0–95.0), respectively (Mann–Whitney U test = 146.5, p = 0.0098, effect size = 0.8077, power = 0.9525). The median ALERs were 0.084 (range: 0.0–0.227) and 0.043 (range: 0.0–0.15) for the patients and controls, respectively (Mann–Whitney U test = 162.5, p = 0.0255, effect size = 0.7845, power = 0.9520). The reaction times of the two groups in the acquisition phase did not differ. The median reaction times were 1565.44 (range: 1034.97–3402.02) ms and 1674.51 (range: 1069.54–3489.21) ms for the patients and controls, respectively (Mann–Whitney U test = 256, p = 0.860).

In the test phase of the paradigm, the performance of the patients and controls did not differ significantly, either in terms of retrieval or generalization (Figure 2).

The median RERs were 0.028 (range: 0.0–0.25) for the patient and 0.028 (0.0–0.22) for the control group (Mann–Whitney U test = 216, p = 0.275). The median GERs were 0.00 (range: 0.0–1.0) and 0.083 (range: 0.0–1.0) for the patient and control groups, respectively (Mann–Whitney U test = 220, p = 0.307). The reaction times of the two groups in the retrieval and generalization parts did not differ. During the retrieval part of the test phase, the median reaction times of the patient and control groups were 1934.37 (range: 1106.66–3728.59) ms and 1693.50 (range: 1145.46–2838.23) ms, respectively (Mann–Whitney U test = 258, p = 0.895). In the generalization part, the median reaction times were 2213.21 (range: 1223.82–8549.00) ms for the patient group and 2309.68 (range: 1158.50–10883.36) ms for the control group (Mann–Whitney U test = 235, p = 0.879).

In the patient group, we also calculated the correlation (Pearson's r) between test performance and the time elapsed since the diagnosis. At the time of testing, the patients had been diagnosed with BPD for a mean of 12.9 years (\pm 9.9 years). None of the investigated parameters (NAT, ALER, RER, GER and RTs) showed significant correlation with the time elapsed since the diagnosis (p > 0.05).

2.2. Performance of BPD patients according to medication status

In the acquisition phase of the paradigm, the performance of the medicated subgroup did not differ from that of the non-medicated subgroup. The median NATs of the medicated and non-medicated subgroups were 69.0 (range: 45.0–133.0) and 80.0 (range: 46.0–185.0), respectively (Mann–Whitney U test = 47, p = 0.4196). The median ALERs were 0.077 (range: 0.0–0.218) for the medicated subgroup and 0.117 (range: 0.043–0.227) for the non-medicated subgroup (Mann–Whitney U test = 36, p = 0.129).

Medication status did not make a significant difference in the test phase either. The median RERs were 0.028 (range: 0.0–0.167) for the medicated subgroup and 0.056 (range: 0.0–0.250) for the non-medicated subgroup (Mann–Whitney U test = 48.5, p = 0.468). The median GERs were 0.00 (range: 0.0–1.0) and 0.00 (range: 0.0–0.750) for the medicated and non-medicated subgroups, respectively (Mann–Whitney U test = 56.5, p = 0.830).

3. Discussion

To our knowledge, this study has been the first to investigate the visually guided associative learning abilities of BPD patients. The results suggest that BPD patients experience difficulties with equivalence learning (making pairs by association), but not with the retrieval of already learned associations or even making inferences from them regarding previously not learned associations.

The results of studies about the impairment of implicit and explicit learning functions in BPD patients are controversial. Earlier studies found no alterations in implicit statistical learning [17] and procedural memory consolidation in patients with BPD [18]. However, primary implicit acquired equivalence learning, which is mainly correlated with the function of the basal ganglia, was found to be significantly altered in the BPD group of our study. Similarly, a comprehensive clinical and neuropsychological study revealed deficits in this patient group in visually guided functions such as visual memory, visuospatial abilities, and executive functions [19]. In contrast, the psychophysical part of a functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI) study found no significant difference in visually guided episodic and semantic memory retrieval between BPD patients and controls. However, a stronger cortical activation was required for the same performance in the patient group [20]. Verbal and visual episodic memory appear to be spared in BPD [21], but these patients exhibit poor performance in the go/no-go task, which indicates response inhibition impairment [22].

In the current study, we applied the modified version [14] of the original Rutgers Acquired Equivalence Test [11, 23]. The test was developed to investigate the visually guided associative learning in healthy humans and those with various psychiatric and neurological disorders. Its acquisition phase tests association learning between two independent visual stimuli, which is considered to depend on the intact function of the basal ganglia [11, 23]. Therefore, this phase is assumed to

Figure 1. Performance in the acquisition phase. NAT: the number of trials necessary for the completion of the acquisition phase. ALER: the ratio of incorrect choices during the acquisition trials. The lower margin of the boxes represents the 25th percentile. The line within the boxes marks the median, and the upper margin of the boxes indicates the 75th percentile. The error bars (whiskers) above and below the boxes denote the 90th and 10th percentiles, respectively. The dots over and under the whiskers indicate the extreme outliers. *: $\rm p < 0.05$, **: $\rm p < 0.01$.





Figure 2. Performance in the test phase. RER: error ratios in the retrieval phase. GER: error ratios in the generalization phase. The conventions are the same as in Figure 1.

test the adequate functioning of the basal ganglia. Accordingly, poor performance has been reported in Parkinson's disease [11], Tourette syndrome [24], and adult migraine [14]. The test phase focuses on functions that are assumed to be mediated by the hippocampi and the medial temporal lobes: retrieval and generalization based on the retrieved information [23, 25]. Poor performance in the test phase has been reported in hippocampus-medial temporal lobe injury [23, 26], Alzheimer's disease [12], and adult migraine [14].

In this study, we have described the cognitive performance of a group of BPD patients without any neurological and/or psychiatric comorbidity (including substance abuse), as assessed by the Rutgers Acquired Equivalence Test.

The results of the acquisition phase (NAT, ALER) indicate that BPD patients found it more difficult to build associations between independent visual stimulus pairs. This finding may be interpreted as a behavioral indicator of suboptimal basal ganglia function in BPD, and so it corroborates the results of studies that suggest that the basal ganglia are affected in this personality disorder [6, 7, 8, 9].

A comparison of reaction times did not reveal differences between patients and controls, which suggests that the difference found in the acquisition phase did not stem from impaired response inhibition in the patient group (which would be indicated by significantly shorter reaction times). This is not necessarily evidence against the presence of impaired response inhibition in this patient population as suggested by Rentrop and colleagues [23], but even if it is a stable feature of BPD patients, it did not influence their performance in this task.

In contrast to the acquisition phase, however, no significant difference was found between patients and controls in the test phase. That is, BPD patients retrieved the previously learned associations and generalized the previously acquired rule of association to new stimulus pairs just as efficiently as controls. In fact, the generalization performance of BPD patients was slightly superior to that of controls, which raises the possibility that in BPD and in this specific task, the hippocampi may function somewhat more efficiently. While the difference was not significant, and we definitely do not have enough data to draw a firm conclusion regarding this issue, it must be noted that such a compensatory function of the hippocampi has been reported in other studies regarding learning [27, 28]. Therefore, as this phase of the test is assumed to depend on the hippocampi, the results may be interpreted as evidence against the hippocampi being affected in BPD - at least, if there is hippocampal involvement, it does not interfere with retrieval and generalization in the context of equivalence learning.

We also considered some potential limitations when interpreting the results of this study. The first one is the relatively low number of participants. This, however, is only a prima facie limitation and we argue that it did not interfere with the generalizability of the results. On one hand, this low number of participants was the result of the strict application of the diagnostic criteria and that substance abuse and neurological/psychiatric comorbidity were exclusion criteria. This way, it became possible to focus on the effect of BPD itself. On the other hand, the statistical tests that returned significant results had a high statistical power (and also a large effect size) so, in this case, a seemingly small sample size did not result in poor statistical power. All in all, the small size of the sample in itself cannot put the validity and generalizability of our results in question.

Another concern was that medications might affect the performance of BPD patients. In an attempt to exclude this possibility, we compared the performance of medicated and non-medicated patients. No difference was found between these subgroups in any of the studied parameters. However, it must be added that splitting the patient group into two subgroups resulted in quite small subsamples, so we advise against interpreting this result as evidence for the complete absence of such an effect.

4. Materials and methods

4.1. Participants

In total, 23 patients with borderline personality disorder (18 women and 5 men, mean age: 28.9 ± 9.6 [range: 18-55] years, median education level: 3.0 [range: 1.0-4.0]) were enrolled in this study. The educational levels were as follows: 1-elementary school, 2-secondary school, 3-high school, 4-university. Inpatients and outpatients from the Department of Psychiatry (Faculty of Medicine, University of Szeged) were recruited. The patients were diagnosed by psychiatrists at the hospital according to the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, Fifth Edition [2]. All patients were diagnosed with borderline personality disorder. Patients with otological, ophthalmological, neurological, or psychiatric comorbidities (including substance abuse) were not eligible for the study. In total, 15 patients received medications (see below). From our database, 23 matched healthy controls (18 women and five men, mean age: 28.7 ± 9.2 [range: 18–53] years, median education level: 3.0 [range: 2.0-4.0]) were identified and individually matched to the patients based on sex, age (difference \leq 2 years), and education level. The comparison of the demographic data revealed no differences between the patient and control groups (Kruskal–Wallis test, p > 0.05) (Table 1).

Prior to testing, the Ishihara plates were used to rule out color blindness in both groups. Only subjects with normal color vision were included in the study.

None of the participants received financial compensation for their participation, and all patients provided written informed consent prior to the start of the study. This research was performed in accordance with the tenets of the Declaration of Helsinki, and it was approved by the Regional Ethics Committee for Medical Research at the University of Szeged, Hungary (50/2015-SZTE).

Fifteen of the 23 patients received several types of medication. Seven of the fifteen patients received monotherapy as follows: two patients received H1 antihistamine (hiroxizine), three patients received either of

Group	Number of cases	Female/male	Age, mean (years)	Age, range: (years)	Educational level median (range)
All patients	23	18/5	28.9 ± 9.6	18–55	3.0 (1.0-4.0)
All controls	23	18/5	28.7 ± 9.2	18–53	3.0 (2.0–4.0)
Medicated patients	15	12/3	31.2 ± 10.7	18–55	3.0 (1.0-4.0)
Controls matched to medicated patients	15	11/4	30.7 ± 10.1	18–53	3.0 (2.0-4.0)
Unmedicated patients	8	6/2	24.6 ± 5.4	18–34	3.0 (3.0–4.0)
Controls matched to unmedicated patients	8	7/1	24.9 ± 5.6	18–35	3.5 (3.0–4.0)

Table 1. Demographic data of the patients and controls

three serotonergic medications (escitalopram, fluoxetine, vortioxetine) and two patients received antipsychotics (olanzapine, aripiprazole). Further five of the fifteen patients received a combination of two agents: two of them received the combination of an SSNRI (venlafaxine) and a GABA agonist (benzodiazepine or alprazolam); one of them received a combination of two types of GABA agonists (benzodiazepine and imidazopiridine); one of them received a combination of a GABA agonist (alprazolam) and a mood stabilizer (lamotrigine); and one of them received the combination of an SSRI (escitalopram) and an atypical antipsychotic (quetiapine). Finally, three of the fifteen medicated patients received three agents in combination: a GABA agonist (benzodiazepine, imidazopiridine or alprazolam), an SSNRI (duloxetine or venlafaxine) and a third agent, which was either a melatonine receptor agonist (agomelatine) or an atypical antipsychotic (olanzapine).

At the time of testing, the patients have taken their medications for a mean of 9.21 (\pm 6.29) years (median: 9 years, range: 1–20 years, lower quartile: 4 years, upper quartile: 14 years).

4.2. The learning paradigm

Testing was carried out according to Myers and co-workers, according to the method known as the Rutgers Acquired Equivalence Test [11]. The testing software, which was originally prepared for iOS was rewritten in Assembly (for Windows). Stimuli were presented and responses were recorded with a desktop computer with a CRT screen. The testing sessions took place in a quiet room with the subjects sitting at a standard distance from the computer screen (114 cm). One subject was tested at a time and no time limit was set. Figure 3 shows a schematic representation of the paradigm.

The visual stimuli referred to as antecedents were cartoon faces of a woman (A1), a girl (A2), a man (B1) and a boy (B2). The consequents were yellow (X1), red (X2), green (Y1) and blue (Y2) fish.

During a trial, the participant was shown an antecedent (a face) and two consequents (a pair of fish of different color) and asked to choose one of the latter by pressing one of two buttons on the keyboard marked as



Figure 3. A schematic representation of the applied visually guided associative learning paradigm.

LEFT and RIGHT. The trials are organized into two main phases: acquisition and test. The test phase is further broken down to retrieval and generalization (see below). Depending on the phase the participant was in, the choice was (acquisition phase) or was not (test phase) followed by feedback on the correctness of the choice.

During the acquisition phase, the participants learned a series of antecedent-consequent pairs in a trial-and-error manner. When antecedents A1 or A2 were shown, the correct consequent was X1. On the other hand, when antecedent B1 or B2 were presented, the correct consequent was Y1. Visual feedback on the correctness of the subject's choice was provided immediately in the form of the words CORRECT (in green) and INCORRECT (in red) displayed on the screen under the antecedent-consequent pair. This way, besides the face-fish associations, the participants also learned that the antecedent A1 (B1) is equivalent to antecedent A2 (B2) in terms of their relation to the same consequent. Next, the participants had to learn new stimulus pairs. In case of antecedents A1 and B1, the correct consequents were X2 and Y2, respectively. Of the eight possible stimulus combinations, six were presented in the acquisition phase of the equivalence learning task. New association were presented mixed with the previously learned ones. The subjects had to accomplish a certain number of correct decisions, 4 when the first association was presented, and it was increased by 2 upon the presentation of each new association that followed up to a maximum of 12. Thus, the number of trials in the acquisition phase was not constant, it depended on the effectiveness of the learning of the participants.

In the test phase, the task remained the same, but visual feedback was no longer given. During the retrieval part of the test phase the already learnt six stimulus pairs were tested. In the generalization (or transfer) part of the test phase, hitherto not presented, new stimulus pairs were also tested. These were predictable if the participant had managed to acquire the equivalence rule (antecedent A1 and A2 are equivalent upon the connected consequences, similarly B1 and B2, too). Here the participants had to choose that antecedent A2 and B2 were coupled to consequences X2 and Y2, respectively. Participants were not informed that new associations would have to be formed, too. These new stimulus pairs were mixed with the earlier ones. The number of trials in the test phase was constant for each participant. Altogether 48 trials (36 previously learned and 12 new, predictable associations) had to be completed in the test phase.

More detailed description of the paradigm can be found in our previous studies [29, 30].

4.3. Data analysis

The performance of the participants was characterized with four main parameters: the number of trials necessary for the completion of the acquisition phase (NAT), association learning error ratio (ALER), retrieval error ratio (RER), and generalization error ratio (GER). Error ratios were calculated by dividing the number of incorrect trials by the total number of trials. Reaction times were recorded for the acquisition phase, the retrieval part of the test phase and the generalization part of the test phase.

After having determined that the data were non-normally distributed (Shapiro-Wilk p < 0.05), comparisons between BPD patients and controls were performed with the Mann-Whitney U test. The level of significance was set at $p\,=\,0.05$. For the descriptive characterization of the data, medians and ranges were used.

Declarations

Author contribution statement

Anett Rosu; Kálmán Tót: Performed the experiments; Analyzed and interpreted the data; Wrote the paper.

György Godó: Performed the experiments; Analyzed and interpreted the data.

Szabolcs Kéri: Conceived and designed the experiments; Contributed reagents, materials, analysis tools or data.

Attila Nagy: Conceived and designed the experiments; Contributed reagents, materials, analysis tools or data; Wrote the paper.

Gabriella Eördegh: Conceived and designed the experiments; Performed the experiments; Analyzed and interpreted the data; Wrote the paper.

Funding statement

Attila Nagy was supported by University of Szeged [SZTE-ÁOK-KKA 2019/270-62-2.].

Data availability statement

Data will be made available on request.

Declaration of interests statement

The authors declare no conflict of interest.

Additional information

No additional information is available for this paper.

References

- M. Swartz, et al., Estimating the prevalence of borderline personality disorder in the community, J. Pers. Disord. 4 (3) (1990) 257–272.
- [2] D.E. Battle, Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders (DSM), Codas 25 (2) (2013) 191–192.
- [3] M.M. Perez-Rodriguez, et al., Striatal activity in borderline personality disorder with comorbid intermittent explosive disorder: sex differences, J. Psychiatr. Res. 46 (6) (2012) 797–804.
- [4] A. O'Neill, T. Frodl, Brain structure and function in borderline personality disorder, Brain Struct. Funct. 217 (4) (2012) 767–782.
- [5] E. Lis, et al., Neuroimaging and genetics of borderline personality disorder: a review, J. Psychiatry Neurosci. 32 (3) (2007) 162–173.
- [6] A. Lamers, et al., Nonacceptance of negative emotions in women with borderline personality disorder: association with neuroactivity of the dorsal striatum, J. Psychiatry Neurosci. 44 (5) (2019) 303–312.
- [7] G.Y. Wang, et al., ACC GABA levels are associated with functional activation and connectivity in the fronto-striatal network during interference inhibition in patients with borderline personality disorder, Neuroimage 147 (2017) 164–174.
- [8] J.G. Stewart, et al., Neurophysiological activity following rewards and losses among female adolescents and young adults with borderline personality disorder, J. Abnorm. Psychol. 128 (6) (2019) 610–621.
- [9] S.K. Fineberg, et al., Differential valuation and learning from social and nonsocial cues in borderline personality disorder, Biol. Psychiatr. 84 (11) (2018) 838–845.
- [10] Z. Unoka, J.R. M, Neuropsychological deficits in BPD patients and the moderator effects of co-occurring mental disorders: a meta-analysis, Clin. Psychol. Rev. 44 (2016) 1–12.
- [11] C.E. Myers, et al., Dissociating hippocampal versus basal ganglia contributions to learning and transfer, J. Cognit. Neurosci. 15 (2) (2003) 185–193.
- [12] N. Bodi, et al., Associative learning, acquired equivalence, and flexible generalization of knowledge in mild Alzheimer disease, Cognit. Behav. Neurol. 22 (2) (2009) 89–94.
- [13] S. Keri, et al., Dissociation between medial temporal lobe and basal ganglia memory systems in schizophrenia, Schizophr. Res. 77 (2-3) (2005) 321–328.
- [14] A. Oze, et al., Acquired equivalence and related memory processes in migraine without aura, Cephalalgia 37 (6) (2017) 532–540.
- [15] Á. Pertich, et al., Maintained visual-, auditory-, and multisensory-guided associative learning functions in children with obsessive–compulsive disorder, Front. Psychiatr. 11 (1287) (2020).
- [16] Z. Giricz, et al., Visually guided associative learning in pediatric and adult migraine without aura, Cephalalgia 41 (2020) 176–184, 0333102420958388.
- [17] Z. Unoka, et al., Intact implicit statistical learning in borderline personality disorder, Psychiatr. Res. 255 (2017) 373–381.
- [18] O.P. Hornung, et al., Declarative and procedural memory consolidation during sleep in patients with borderline personality disorder, J. Psychiatr. Res. 42 (8) (2008) 653–658.
- [19] T. Beblo, et al., Deficits in visual functions and neuropsychological inconsistency in Borderline Personality Disorder, Psychiatr. Res. 145 (2-3) (2006) 127–135.
- [20] C. Mensebach, et al., Neural correlates of episodic and semantic memory retrieval in borderline personality disorder: an fMRI study, Psychiatr. Res. 171 (2) (2009) 94–105.

A. Rosu et al.

- [21] A.C. Ruocco, N. Bahl, Material-specific discrepancies in verbal and visual episodic memory in borderline personality disorder, Psychiatr. Res. 220 (1-2) (2014) 694–697.
- [22] M. Rentrop, et al., Response inhibition in borderline personality disorder: performance in a Go/Nogo task, Psychopathology 41 (1) (2008) 50–57.
- [23] C.E. Myers, et al., Dissociating medial temporal and basal ganglia memory systems with a latent learning task, Neuropsychologia 41 (14) (2003) 1919–1928.
- [24] G. Eordegh, et al., Impairment of visually guided associative learning in children with Tourette syndrome, PLoS One 15 (6) (2020) e0234724.
- [25] A.A. Moustafa, C.E. Myers, M.A. Gluck, A neurocomputational model of classical conditioning phenomena: a putative role for the hippocampal region in associative learning, Brain Res. 1276 (2009) 180–195.
- [26] C.E. Myers, et al., Learning and generalization deficits in patients with memory impairments due to anterior communicating artery aneurysm rupture or hypoxic brain injury, Neuropsychology 22 (5) (2008) 681–686.
- [27] M.T. Ullman, M.Y. Pullman, A compensatory role for declarative memory in neurodevelopmental disorders, Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev. 51 (2015) 205–222.
- [28] R. Marsh, T.V. Maia, B.S. Peterson, Functional disturbances within frontostriatal circuits across multiple childhood psychopathologies, Am. J. Psychiatr. 166 (6) (2009) 664–674.
- [29] G. Eordegh, et al., Multisensory guided associative learning in healthy humans, PLoS One 14 (3) (2019) e0213094.
- [30] G. Braunitzer, et al., The development of acquired equivalence from childhood to adulthood-A cross-sectional study of 265 subjects, PLoS One 12 (6) (2017) e0179525.



G OPEN ACCESS

Citation: Eördegh G, Őze A, Bodosi B, Puszta A, Pertich Á, Rosu A, et al. (2019) Multisensory guided associative learning in healthy humans. PLoS ONE 14(3): e0213094. https://doi.org/ 10.1371/journal.pone.0213094

Editor: Bernadette Ann Murphy, University of Ontario Institute of Technology, CANADA

Received: August 7, 2018

Accepted: February 14, 2019

Published: March 12, 2019

Copyright: © 2019 Eördegh et al. This is an open access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author and source are credited.

Data Availability Statement: All relevant data are within the manuscript and its Supporting Information files.

Funding: AN received the award. Grant number: Hungarian Brain Research Program Grant KTIA_13_NAP-A-I/15. The full name of the funder: Hungarian Brain Research Program, http://www. agykutatas.com. The funders had no role in study design, data collection and analysis, decision to publish, or preparation of the manuscript.

Competing interests: The authors have declared that no competing interests exist.

RESEARCH ARTICLE

Multisensory guided associative learning in healthy humans

Gabriella Eördegh¹, Attila Őze², Balázs Bodosi², András Puszta², Ákos Pertich², Anett Rosu³, György Godó⁴, Attila Nagy²*

 Department of Operative and Esthetic Dentistry, Faculty of Dentistry, University of Szeged, Szeged, Hungary, 2 Department of Physiology, Faculty of Medicine, University of Szeged, Szeged, Hungary,
Department of Psychiatry, Faculty of Medicine, University of Szeged, Szeged, Hungary, 4 Csongrád County Health Care Center, Psychiatric Outpatient Care, Hódmezővásárhely, Hungary

* nagy.attila.1@med.u-szeged.hu

Abstract

Associative learning is a basic cognitive function by which discrete and often different percepts are linked together. The Rutgers Acquired Equivalence Test investigates a specific kind of associative learning, visually guided equivalence learning. The test consists of an acquisition (pair learning) and a test (rule transfer) phase, which are associated primarily with the function of the basal ganglia and the hippocampi, respectively. Earlier studies described that both fundamentally-involved brain structures in the visual associative learning, the basal ganglia and the hippocampi, receive not only visual but also multisensory information. However, no study has investigated whether there is a priority for multisensory guided equivalence learning compared to unimodal ones. Thus we had no data about the modality-dependence or independence of the equivalence learning. In the present study, we have therefore introduced the auditory- and multisensory (audiovisual)-guided equivalence learning paradigms and investigated the performance of 151 healthy volunteers in the visual as well as in the auditory and multisensory paradigms. Our results indicated that visual, auditory and multisensory guided associative learning is similarly effective in healthy humans, which suggest that the acquisition phase is fairly independent from the modality of the stimuli. On the other hand, in the test phase, where participants were presented with acquisitions that were learned earlier and associations that were until then not seen or heard but predictable, the multisensory stimuli elicited the best performance. The test phase, especially its generalization part, seems to be a harder cognitive task, where the multisensory information processing could improve the performance of the participants.

Introduction

Associative learning is a basic cognitive function by which discrete and often different percepts will be linked together. It contributes to several cognitive tasks, i.e. classical conditioning [1], latent inhibition [2] and sensory preconditioning [3]. Catherine E. Myers and co-workers developed a learning paradigm (Rutgers Acquired Equivalence Test, also known as the fish-

face paradigm) that can be applied to investigate a specific kind of associative learning, which is visually guided equivalence learning [4]. This test can be divided into two main phases. In the acquisition phase, the subjects are asked to associate two different visual stimuli as the computer provides information about the correctness of the responses. After that in the test phase the subjects receive no feedback about the correctness of their choices. In the test phase, beside the stimulus pairs learned earlier (retrieval part), hitherto not encountered but predictable associations (generalization part) are also presented. A substantial advantage of this test is that well-circumscribed brain structures play the main role in different phases of the test. Optimal performance in the acquisition phase appears to depend mainly on the integrity of the basal ganglia, whereas performance in the test phase (both retrieval and generalization) has been linked to the integrity of the hippocampal region [4, 5]. Our research group has a particular interest in the sensorimotor and cognitive functions of the basal ganglia and has studied with this paradigm since 2006, mostly to assess the development of visually guided associative learning [6] and to examine the progress in various conditions, from Alzheimer's disease to migraines [7–9]. It is well known from earlier studies that both brain structures fundamentally involved in visual associative learning, the basal ganglia and the hippocampi, receive not only visual but also multisensory information [10-13]. Multimodal information could be more informative than a unimodal stimulus from the environment [14, 15]. Probably because of the merging of senses, multisensority has a priority in spatial orientation and in recognizing objects and events from the multisensory environment [14-16]. Multisensory integration occurs at different levels of brain functions. It can be observed at the cellular level [17-20] in several brain regions such as the superior colliculus [21], basal ganglia [11, 22] the cortex [23], and the hippocampus [24] or on the behavioral level [25, 26]. It can occur between two or three different modalities, for example auditory and visual [27, 28], visual and vestibular [29], auditory and tactile [30], or auditory, visual and somatosensory [11, 31, 32].

Having realized, though, that we did not have normative data about the modality-dependence of equivalence learning, we aimed to develop and introduce the auditory-guided and multisensory (audiovisual)-guided equivalence learning paradigms in order to compare the performance of healthy volunteers in the three (visual, auditory and multisensory) tasks. Special attention was paid to whether, during multisensory-guided learning, the earlier-described multisensory integration can be found on the behavioral level during multisensory-guided acquired equivalence learning. Earlier studies denoted that the multisensory information could facilitate learning. Multisensory information increases the learning speed in discrimination learning [33]. This occurs in selective learning tasks, too [34]. It is also known that the spatially coupled different modality stimuli could elicit more accurate orientation behavior than the spatially separated ones [35, 36]. We asked in the present study whether multisensory stimuli could similarly facilitate the acquired equivalence learning at a behavioral level. The general hypothesis of the present study was that multisensory guided associative learning is more effective in both its acquisition and test phases compared to those that employ unimodal visual and auditory guided paradigms.

Methods

Subjects

Altogether 151 healthy adult volunteers were involved in the research. All subjects were Caucasian. Only persons free of any ophthalmological, otological, neurological and psychiatric conditions were eligible. Intactness of color vision was tested by Ishihara plates prior to testing to exclude color blindness [37]. The potential subjects were informed about the background and goals of the study, as well as about the procedures involved. It was also emphasized that, given the lack of compensation or any direct benefit, the participants were free to quit at any time without any consequence (no one did so). Each participant signed an informed consent form.

The protocol of the study conformed to the tenets of the Declaration of Helsinki in all respects, and it was approved on several occasions by the Regional Research Ethics Committee for Medical Research at the University of Szeged, Hungary (50/2015-SZTE).

The sensory guided associative learning paradigms

The tests were run on laptop computers (Lenovo T430, Fujitsu Siemens Amilo Pro V3505, Samsung Electronics 300e4z/300e5z/300e7z, Lenovo Yoga Y500) and with Sennheiser HD 439 closed, over-ear headphones for auditory and multisensory testing. The testing sessions took place in a quiet room with the subjects sitting at a standard distance (114 cm) from the computer screen. The M and X keys of the laptop keyboards were labeled left and right, respectively. One subject was tested at a time, and no time limit was set, so the subject could pay involuntary, undivided attention to learning. No forced quick responses were expected. The original visual associative learning test [4] written for iOS was slightly modified, translated to Hungarian and rewritten in Assembly (for Windows) with the written permission of Prof Catherine E. Myers (Rutgers University, NJ, USA), the corresponding author of the abovementioned paper [4]. Beside the visually guided test, we also introduced an auditory and a multisensory (audiovisual) guided learning test, implemented in Assembly (for Windows). During the tests the participants had to associate two kinds of information referred to as antecedents and consequents. The participants were asked to learn associations of antecedent and consequent stimuli through trial and error during the task, and indicate their choice by pressing either the LEFT or RIGHT button of the laptop keyboard. The left or right button corresponded to the picture on each side of the computer monitor. All three paradigms were tested in two main phases, the acquisition and the test phases. In the acquisition phase the participant had to form associations between definite stimuli (equivalence acquisition) and the computer gave feedback about the success of the acquisition. A green check mark appeared on the screen to indicate a correct answer, while an incorrect answer was indicated by a red X. New associations were introduced one by one during the acquisition phase. The test phase, where no further feedback was provided, can be divided into two parts. Here the participant had to recall the previously-learned associations (in the retrieval part) and had to build new, hithertounknown but predictable acquisitions (in the generalization part) based on the rules learned in the acquisition phase. In the test phase the unknown new associations were presented mixed among the previously-learned ones. The subjects had to achieve a certain number of consecutive correct answers after the presentation of each new association (4 after the presentation of the first association, and 4, 6, 8, 10, 12 with the introduction of each new association, respectively) to be allowed to proceed. This ensured that the participants proceeded to the test phase only when they had memorized all the associations shown in the acquisition phase. Thus there were not a constant number of trials in the acquisition phase; the number depended on the performance of the subjects. On the other hand, the test phase consistently contained 48 trials, 36 of them previously-learned associations (retrieval part) and 12 new, previously not presented but predictable associations (generalization part).

Visual paradigm. Fig 1 illustrates the task in the three different paradigms.

The principle of the visual paradigm (Fig 1, top) is based on the Rutgers Acquired Equivalence Test (RAET) of Myers et al [4]. During each trial of the task the participants saw a face and a pair of fish, and were asked to choose which fish is matched with the given face. The faces were a girl, a boy, a man and a woman. The fish, which were of the same shape, had different colors: green, red, yellow and blue. There were four faces (A1, A2, B1, B2) and four fish



Fig 1. The schematic drawing of the applied visual, auditory and multisensory guided associative learning paradigms. See details in text.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0213094.g001

(X1, X2, Y1, Y2) which could build eight pairs altogether. During the first two parts of the acquisition phase, the participants were expected to learn that when face A1 or A2 appeared, the correct answer was to choose fish X1 over fish Y1; given face B1 or B2, the correct answer was to choose fish X1. This way the participants also learned that face A1 and A2 were equivalent in their consequent (face B1 and B2 likewise). In the next stage new consequents (X2, Y2) were introduced. Given face A1, participants had to choose fish X2 over Y2, and given face B1 they had to choose fish Y2 over X2. Until this point, participants had received feedback about the correctness of the decision. In the test phase, without any further feedback, the test presented the two new combinations beside the already-learned acquisitions. If the participants learned that A1 and A2 are equivalent, similarly to B1 and B2, they could generalize the previously-learned rule and could associate fish X2 with face A2 to (the fish that was associated with A1) and fish Y2 with face B2 to (the fish that was associated with face B1).

Auditory paradigm. In the auditory task the participants had to learn to associate sounds (antecedents) with the left or right buttons (L or R as consequents in Fig 1 middle), similarly to the visual paradigm, 8 pairs were built. Eight different sounds distributed into four pairs were used (in Fig 1 the following four sound pairs can be seen: sound 1 and sound 1', sound 2 and sound 2', sound 3 and sound 3', sound 4 and sound 4'): two human voices of different genders (who said a word in Hungarian with neutral emotional tone), two animal sounds (a cat meowing, a dog barking), two sounds of musical instruments (a guitar, a piano), and two vehicle sounds (a motorcycle, an ignition key). The different sounds were randomly presented to each participant, so for example in one case, the sound 1 and sound 1' mean the two animal sounds, in another case the sound 1 and sound 1' mean the two vehicle sounds, etc. Each sound was 1.5 s long, and had the same intensity (SPL = 60 dB). The sound clips were played to the participants before the testing began through the headphones to each ear. The grouping was reflected in the distribution of sounds between the buttons: the first sound of a pair could be associated with to one key and the second sound of the same pair to the other key. The participants were expected to learn the pattern through trial and error, and apply it in the generalization phase of the task. During the acquisition phase the participants learned to associate two pairs of sound with buttons (altogether four associations), thus learning the pattern. Then the associations of one sound from each of the two remaining groups were learned. In the test phase, the participants had to generalize the correct association of the remaining two sounds. For feasibility reasons, which will be discussed in detail in the Discussion part of the paper, the auditory guided task does not totally correspond to the visual and multisensory guided ones. Although all of the learning tasks contain eight stimuli, in the auditory paradigm, in contrast to the visual and multisensory test where two visual or an auditory and a visual stimuli had to be associated, the sound has to be associated not with a second sound but with a particular button.

Multisensory paradigm. Apart from the stimuli, the experimental procedure of the multisensory (audiovisual) paradigm was exactly the same as the visual paradigm (Fig 1, bottom). Clearly-distinguishable sounds (one of the antecedents pairs used in the auditory paradigm: a cat's meow, the sound of an ignition key, a note played by a guitar and a woman saying a Hungarian word with neutral emotional tone) served as antecedents (sound 1, sound 2, sound 3, sound 4) and faces were used as consequents (X1, X2, Y1, Y2). In each trial a sound (SPL = 60 dB) was played and two faces were presented to the participants, who had to learn which sound goes with which face. The stimuli were presented at the same time on the computer screen and through the headphones. The participants were asked to choose which face (left or right) is coupled with the given sound and were asked to press the corresponding button (left or right) on the keyboard. The auditory and visual components of the multisensory stimulus pairs were primarily semantically incongruent (except in the case of a woman's voice being matched with a woman's face).

Data analysis

The trial numbers, the response accuracy (error ratios) and response times were analyzed in three groups in each paradigm: the acquisition phase, the retrieval part of the test phase and the generalization part of the test phase (minimal data set can be found in S1 File.). We registered the number of trials needed to complete the acquisition phase (NAT: Number of acquisition trials), the number of correct and incorrect choices during the acquisition phase, and the number of correct and incorrect answers for known and unknown associations during the retrieval and generalization parts of the test phase. Using these data, the error ratios were calculated: the ratio of the correct answers in the acquisition phase (ALER: Acquisition learning error ratio), in the retrieval part of the test phase (RER: Retrieval error ratio) and in the generalization part of the test phase (GER: Generalization error ratio). Reaction times (RT) in each phase for each answer were measured in ms with µs accuracy. The RTs were kept only within 3SDs of participants' average.

To avoid a carry-over effect between paradigms, the different paradigms were recorded in a random order with each person.

The statistical analysis was performed in Statistica 13 (Dell Inc. USA) and G*Power 3.1.9.2. (Düsseldorf, Germany). One-way ANOVA was applied in order to compare the performances and the response times for each phase of the three learning paradigms. If the ANOVA analysis revealed significant difference among the values, the Tukey HSD post hoc test was applied to check the data pairwise. The effect sizes were calculated from means (in Statistica RMSSE, Root Mean Square Standardized Effect) because of the applied One-way ANOVA method. To determine the validity of the Miller's race model [38, 39] an algorithm, developed earlier by Ulrich et al. [40] was applied on the visual, auditory and audiovisual response latencies in the generalization part of the paradigms.

Results

Altogether 151 healthy volunteers participated in the study. Only a small minority of the participants (7/151) did not complete all three (visual, auditory, multisensory) paradigms. All of the participants could complete the visual paradigm, one of them could not learn the auditory, and six of them could not learn the multisensory associations. Only the performance and RT of those participants who completed all the three paradigms were further analyzed. After the further exclusion of the extreme outliers, 141 volunteers will be analyzed in detail ($n_{male} = 41$, age: 31.21±11.51 years, range: 18–72 years). The outliers were determined as a value above the mean +3SD (by the trial number in one of the paradigms).

The performance in the three paradigms

The mean of the NAT necessary to learn the visual paradigm was 66.48 (range: 41–269, SEM: ± 2.61 , n = 141), in the case of the auditory paradigm it was 71.74 (range: 38–292, SEM: ± 4.00 , n = 141) and in the case of the multisensory paradigm it was 63.82 (range: 41–226, SEM: ± 2.41 , n = 141). The NATs did not differ significantly among the three (visual, auditory and multisensory) paradigms (ANOVA (F_(2, 420) = 1.7097, p = 0.18219) (Fig 2A).

In the visual paradigm the mean of the ALER was 0.0771 (range: 0–0.3333, SEM: ±0.0058), in the auditory paradigm it was 0.0715 (range: 0–0.359, SEM: ±0.0064) and in the multisensory paradigm it was 0.0724 (range: 0–0.347, SEM: ±0.0051). Similarly to the NATs, the ALERs showed no significant variation among the visual, auditory and multisensory paradigms (ANOVA $F_{(2, 420)} = 0.26517$, p = 0.76721 (Fig 2B)).

In the retrieval part of the test phase the RER was the highest in the auditory paradigm (mean: 0.07348, range: 0-0.4167, SEM: ± 0.0075), it was moderate (mean: 0.0581, range:


Fig 2. Performances in the sensory guided equivalence learning paradigms. (A) denotes the number of the necessary trials in the acquisition phase of the paradigm. (B) shows the error ratios in the acquisition phase of the paradigm. (C) and (D) denote the error ratios in the retrieval and generalization parts of the test phase, respectively. In each panel, the first column (light grey) shows the results in the visual paradigm, the second column (white) denotes the results in the auditory paradigm and the third column (grey-white striped) demonstrates the results in the multisensory (audiovisual) paradigm. Mean \pm SEM values are presented in each column. The black stars denote the significant differences. The single star in part C represents a significant difference, where p<0.05; the two stars in part D represent strongly significant differences, where p<0.001.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0213094.g002

0–0.4167, SEM: ±0.0072) in the visual paradigm and it was the lowest in the multisensory paradigm (mean: 0.0483, range: 0–0.4167, SEM: ±0.0064). There was a significant difference among these values (ANOVA: $F_{(2, 420)} = 3.2659$, p = 0.03913, Effect size: 0.0104, Power: 0.0420). The Tukey HSD post hoc test revealed that the multisensory RER was significantly lower than the auditory one (p = 0.030191), but there were no significant differences between the other combinations (Fig 2C).

The same trend can be observed in the generalization part of the test phase among the GERs. The GERs were the highest in the auditory paradigm (mean: 0.5703, range: 0–1, SEM: ± 0.0264), while in the visual and multisensory paradigms they were nearly half of the auditory GER (visual mean: 0.2447, range: 0–1, SEM: ± 0.0268 , multisensory mean: 0.1809, range: 0–1, SEM: ± 0.0217). There was a significant difference among these values (ANOVA F_(2, 420) = 9.4153, p<0.0001, Effect size: 0.2089, Power: 0.2444). The Tukey post hoc analysis revealed that both the visual and multisensory GERs were significantly lower than the auditory ones (visual vs. auditory p<0.001; multisensory vs. auditory p<0.001 (Fig 2D)).

In order to exclude the effect of learning during the tests, we investigated the effect of the sequence of the paradigms on performance. Altogether six different orders of paradigms were

used, as their order was selected at random (Visual (V), Auditory (A), Multisensory (M), VMA, AVM, AMV, MVA, MAV). The statistical analysis (ANOVA) revealed no significant differences among the NATs, ALERs, RERs and GERs in the six possible orders.

Latency of the correct trials in the three paradigms

Fig 3 denotes the mean latencies of the correct trials in the acquisition phase and in the retrieval and generalization parts of the test phase in the three paradigms.

We compared the latency of the correct trials among the same phases of the different paradigms. The mean latency of the auditory correct trials in the acquisition phase was significant shorter (mean: 1447.86 ms, range: 850.43–3208.45 ms, SEM: ±28.92 ms, n = 141), than that of the visual (mean: 1721.21 ms, range: 841.63–3885.76 ms, SEM: ±49.31 ms, n = 141) and multisensory correct trials (mean: 1686.22 ms, range: 894.23–4017.16 ms, SEM: ±40.03 ms, n = 141; ANOVA ($F_{(2, 420)} = 13.630$, p<0.001, Effect size: 0.1218, Power: 0.9586, Tukey HSD post hoc between visual vs. auditory p<0.001, multisensory vs. auditory p<0.001) (Fig 3A).

Similarly to the acquisition phase, the mean latencies of the correct trials were different in the retrieval part of the test phase (ANOVA $F_{(2, 420)} = 9.7615$, p<0.001, Effect size: 0.105, Power: 0.9522, Tukey HSD post hoc visual vs. auditory p<0.001, visual vs. multisensory p = 0.0022). The mean latency of the visual correct trials was significantly longer (mean: 1782.65 ms, range: 825.81–4656.29 ms, SEM: ±55.39 ms, n = 141), than that of the auditory (mean: 1538.68 ms, range: 814.86–2884.62 ms, SEM: ±31.67 ms, n = 141) and multisensory correct trials (mean: 1585.58 ms, range: 893.58–2988.21 ms, SEM: ±32.86 ms, n = 141) (Fig 3B).

The mean latencies of the correct trials in the generalization part of the test phase differed significantly by modality ($F_{(2, 380)} = 7.3734$, p = 0.00072, Effect size: 0.2527, Power: 0.9503, Tukey HSD post hoc visual vs. auditory p = 0.0306, visual vs. multisensory p = 0.00053). In the generalization part of the test phase the mean latency of the visual correct trials was the longest (mean: 2677.81 ms, range: 940.8–10883.36 ms, SEM: ±145.95 ms, n = 133) and differed significantly from the other two (auditory mean: 2260.82 ms, range: 912.5–7633.5 ms, SEM: ±99.19 ms, n = 113; multisensory mean: 2089.71 ms, range: 882.58–6969.5 ms, SEM: ±84.12 ms, n = 137) (Fig 3C). While the mean multisensory response latency was the shortest in the generalization part of the test phase, the question arises whether this is because of the race between the visual and auditory modalities or because of the multisensory integration. In order to check this issue the race model inequality was analyzed (see S3 Fig). Based on these results the race model inequality can be held, which contradicts the effect of crossmodal multisensory integration on the audiovisual (multisensory) response latencies.

ANOVA analysis and the connected Tukey HSD post hoc analysis revealed that in all visual, auditory and multisensory paradigms the mean latency of the correct trials was significantly longer in the generalization part of the test phase than those in the acquisition phase or the retrieval part of the test phase. (The results of the detailed statistical analysis can be found here: visual paradigm $F_{(2, 412)} = 33.19$, p<0.000001, Effect size: 0.4326, Power: 0.9532, post hoc acquisition vs. generalization p = 0.00002, retrieval vs. generalization p = 0.00002; auditory paradigm $F_{(2, 392)} = 58.63$, p<0.000001 Effect size: 0.349, Power: 0.9532, post hoc acquisition vs. generalization p = 0.00002, retrieval vs. generalization p = 0.00002; multisensory paradigm $F_{(2, 416)} = 22.176$, p<0.000001, Effect size: 0.2167, Power: 0.9507, post hoc, acquisition vs. generalization p = 0.00002, retrieval vs. generalization p = 0.00002, multisensory paradigm $F_{(2, 416)} = 20.00002$, retrieval vs. generalization p = 0.00002, multisensory paradigm $F_{(2, 416)} = 20.00002$, retrieval vs. generalization p = 0.00002, multisensory paradigm $F_{(2, 416)} = 20.00002$, retrieval vs. generalization p = 0.00002, multisensory paradigm $F_{(2, 416)} = 20.00002$, retrieval vs. generalization p = 0.00002, multisensory paradigm $F_{(2, 416)} = 20.00002$, retrieval vs. generalization p = 0.00002, multisensory paradigm $F_{(2, 416)} = 20.00002$, retrieval vs. generalization p = 0.00002, multisensory paradigm $F_{(2, 416)} = 20.00002$, retrieval vs. generalization p = 0.00002, multisensory paradigm $F_{(2, 416)} = 0.00002$, retrieval vs. generalization p = 0.00002, multisensory paradigm $F_{(2, 416)} = 0.00002$, retrieval vs. generalization p = 0.00002.)

Discussion

The Rutgers Acquired Equivalence Test [4] was originally developed in order to learn about the visually guided associative learning of neurological patients with basal ganglia and



Fig 3. Response latencies in the sensory guided equivalence learning paradigms. (A) shows the response latencies in the acquisition phase of the paradigm, while (B) and (C) denote the response latencies in the retrieval and the generalization parts of the test phase, respectively. The ordinates show the latencies in millisecond (ms). Other conventions are the same as in Fig 2.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0213094.g003

hippocampus dysfunction. The test was applied later in cases of psychiatric disorders [41] and also to healthy subjects [6, 42]. Although both the basal ganglia and the hippocampi process not only visual but also multisensory information [10-13] the multisensory guided acquired equivalence learning had not been investigated before. As we recognized this absence we developed a multisensory (audiovisual) version of the associative learning test and were the first to investigate the basal ganglia and hippocampus mediated multisensory guided associative learning in healthy humans. We have to mention here that the aim of the study was not to measure directly the contribution of the involved structures to the paradigms. Thus, we could draw only indirect conclusions about the contribution of the basal ganglia and the hippocampi to the learning paradigms based on our psychophysical results and the results of previous publications in this field [4, 5, 7, 8]. This is a clear psychophysical study, which investigates the performance and the RT of healthy volunteers in different sensory guided associative learning paradigms.

The applied test can be divided into two parts irrespective of its modality. The first is the acquisition phase in which the subjects have to learn particular visual, auditory and multisensory stimulus combinations based on the feedback of the computer program. This process involves basal ganglia and the hippocampus. The association of new stimuli is dominated by the function of the basal ganglia [43, 44] and the coding and recall of associations are mainly a function of the medial temporal lobe [45]. Our results showed no significant difference between the performances (error ratio) in the unimodal visual, unimodal auditory and the combined audiovisual paradigms in the acquisition phase. Thus the modality of the stimuli does not affect the performance in this phase of the behavioral test. It is difficult to offer an explanation for this because it was described in several earlier studies that multisensory information could have more meaning than the sum of the unimodal ones [11, 46]. Multisensory integration has an important role not only in motor but also in cognitive functions of the brain. This multisensory facilitation plays a role in visual perception [47] object recognition [48, 49] emotional change recognition [50], face and voice recognition [51], or person recognition [52]. It affects the reaction time and accuracy of answers and the perceived threshold as well [27, 39, 53]. However, our results demonstrated absolutely no priority for the multisensory information in the acquisition phase of the applied associative learning paradigms. An explanation for this can be that such feedback based pair learning is a very old, conserved, and obligatory function which is so simple that the different modalities contribute to the association learning equally, and thus the multisensory information has no priority in these learning processes. This is in line with earlier findings that the basal ganglia, which are predominant in the acquisition phase of the associative learning test, are more active at the appearance of rare stimulus associations, which is not affected by modality [54]. It cannot be excluded that the semantic meaning of the stimuli could influence the performance in the learning paradigms. In a recent study it was demonstrated that semantically congruent audiovisual multisensory stimuli support multisensory integration [55]. In our experiment there was no attention paid to semantic contents because the task was the building of associations between the stimuli irrespectively of their meanings. As our stimuli were mainly semantically incongruent, this is another possible explanation for the lack of multisensory integration in the acquisition phase. At the behavioral level (opposed to the cellular level, [11] the presence of the multisensory integration is dependent on the level of attention and is not an automatic process [56].

The second part of the behavioral learning paradigm is the test phase, where the acquisitions learned earlier (retrieval) and hitherto not seen or heard pairs that were predictable by a previously deduced rule (generalization) were presented. The retrieval part of the test phase is dominated by the hippocampus-MT lobe system [45], and the generalization part of the test phase by the hippocampus and the basal ganglia [57]. Our results demonstrated that the performance was the most accurate (with the least incorrect answers) in the whole test phase of the multisensory guided paradigm although the multisensory performance differed significantly only from the auditory one, not the visual one. Thus, the multisensory-guided equivalence learning could be attributed mostly to visual learning, with the smaller benefit from the auditory modality. In the retrieval part, there was no difference between the unimodal tasks, but the performance in the multisensory task was significantly better than in the auditory one. Furthermore, in the generalization part, the performance in the unimodal visual task was significantly better than in the unimodal auditory one. Similarly, the performance in the multisensory task was significantly better than in the unimodal auditory one. We have to mention here the weakness of our study. The auditory guided task does not totally correspond to the visual and multisensory guided ones. Although all of the learning tasks contain eight stimuli, in the auditory paradigm the sound has to be associated not to a second sound but to a particular button on the keyboard, in contrast to the visual and multisensory tests where two visual stimuli or an auditory and a visual stimulus had to be associated. In an earlier draft of the auditory paradigm, we tried to apply one sound to each ear, but the participants would quickly become nervous and were not able to learn the acquisitions at all. However, the influence of this difference on the results cannot be explained by the auditory association to a keyboard button, as this seems to be an easier task than the visual and audiovisual associations. Nevertheless, the performances were worst in the auditory test.

The auditory and multisensory response latencies were not different but they were significantly shorter than the visual ones in the retrieval and generalization parts of the test phase. The most significant difference among the response latencies was in the generalization part of the test phase. If we compare the different phases of the paradigm, we can conclude that the generalization part of the test phase required the longest reaction times irrespective of the stimulus modality. This long decision time also supports that this is the hardest part of the applied cognitive learning task. We could not conclude that multisensory processing influences decision times, as would be suggested by Miller's race model [39], which reported that a multisensory stimulus can elicit a faster response even without integration actually occurring. In contrast to this finding, in the acquisition and the retrieval part of the test phase the multisensory response did not have the shortest latency. On the other hand, in the generalization part of the test phase, the multisensory response latencies were the shortest. However, based on the visual, auditory and audiovisual response latencies the Miller's race model was not violated [40]. This suggests that the shortest audiovisual response latency can be most probably explained by the race between the visual and auditory modalities and not by the multisensory (audiovisual) integration.

In summary, we can conclude that visual, auditory and multisensory guided association learning are similarly effective in healthy humans, which suggests that the primarily basal ganglia mediated acquisition phase is modality independent. On the other hand, in the test phase of the learning paradigm, which is dominated by the hippocampi, where the earlier-learnt acquisitions and hitherto not seen or heard but predictable associations are presented, the multisensory (audiovisual) stimuli elicited the best performance in the applied cognitive learning task. The test phase, especially its generalization part, seems to be a more difficult cognitive task than the acquisition phase, as the multisensory information processing could significantly improve the performance of the participants.

Supporting information

S1 Fig. Performances in the sensory guided equivalence learning paradigms. (A) denotes the number of the necessary trials in the acquisition phase of the paradigm. (B) shows the error ratios in the acquisition phase of the paradigm. (C) and (D) denote the error ratios in the retrieval and generalization parts of the test phase, respectively. In each panel, the first column (light grey) shows the results in the visual paradigm, the second column (white) denotes the results in the auditory paradigm and the third column (grey-white striped) demonstrates the results in the multisensory (audiovisual) paradigm. Mean \pm SEM values are presented in each column. The black stars denote the significant differences. The single star in part C represents a significant difference, where p<0.05; the two stars in part D represent strongly significant differences, where p<0.001.

(DOCX)

S2 Fig. Response latencies in the sensory guided equivalence learning paradigms. (A) shows the response latencies in the acquisition phase of the paradigm, while (B) and (C) denote the response latencies in the retrieval and the generalization parts of the test phase, respectively. The ordinates show the latencies in millisecond (ms). Other conventions are the same as in Suppl. 1. (DOCX)

S3 Fig. Test of the race model inequality. The figure represents the probability of cumulative frequency of response latencies in all three modalities (visual, auditory and audiovisual; x, y and z, respectively) and the sum of the two single modalities (x+y) in the generalization part of the test phase. The ordinate shows the latencies in milliseconds (ms) x 10^4 . Based on these results the race model inequality can be kept, which contradicts the effect of crossmodal multisensory integration on the audiovisual (multisensory) response latencies in the applied learning paradigm. (DOCX)

S1 File. Minimal data set. Worksheet titled "Results" contains the number of trials in the acquisition phase (NAT) and the number of errors in different phases of the tasks. Worksheet titled "RTs" shows the reaction times of all and the correct answers in different phases of visual, auditory and audiovisual paradigms. (XLSX)

(ALOA)

Acknowledgments

The authors thank to Anna Pihokker, Kálmán Tót, Regina Raffai, and Petra Rózsa for their help during data collection, to Zsófia Giricz for her technical help at preparing figures and all the participants for engaging in the research.

Author Contributions

Conceptualization: Gabriella Eördegh, Attila Őze, Attila Nagy.

Data curation: Gabriella Eördegh, Attila Őze.

Formal analysis: Gabriella Eördegh, Attila Öze.

Funding acquisition: Attila Nagy.

Investigation: Gabriella Eördegh, Attila Őze, András Puszta, Ákos Pertich, Anett Rosu, György Godó.

Methodology: Gabriella Eördegh, Attila Őze, András Puszta, Attila Nagy.

Project administration: Gabriella Eördegh.

Resources: András Puszta.

Software: Balázs Bodosi.

Supervision: Attila Nagy.

Validation: Akos Pertich.

Writing - original draft: Gabriella Eördegh, Åkos Pertich, Attila Nagy.

References

- Ito R, Robbins TW, Pennartz CM, Everitt BJ. Functional interaction between the hippocampus and nucleus accumbens shell is necessary for the acquisition of appetitive spatial context conditioning. J Neurosci. 2008; 28(27):6950–9. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1615-08.2008 PMID: 18596169
- Weiss KR, Brown BL. Latent inhibition: a review and a new hypothesis. Acta Neurobiol Exp (Wars). 1974; 34(2):301–16.
- Rescorla RA. Simultaneous and successive associations in sensory preconditioning. J Exp Psychol Anim Behav Process. 1980; 6(3):207–16. PMID: 6153051
- Myers CE, Shohamy D, Gluck MA, Grossman S, Kluger A, Ferris S, et al. Dissociating hippocampal versus basal ganglia contributions to learning and transfer. J Cogn Neurosci. 2003; 15(2):185–93. https:// doi.org/10.1162/089892903321208123 PMID: 12676056
- Moustafa AA, Myers CE, Gluck MA. A neurocomputational model of classical conditioning phenomena: a putative role for the hippocampal region in associative learning. Brain Res. 2009; 1276:180–95. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainres.2009.04.020 PMID: 19379717
- Braunitzer G, Oze A, Eordegh G, Pihokker A, Rozsa P, Kasik L, et al. The development of acquired equivalence from childhood to adulthood-A cross-sectional study of 265 subjects. PLoS One. 2017; 12 (6):e0179525. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0179525 PMID: 28632760
- Bodi N, Csibri E, Myers CE, Gluck MA, Keri S. Associative learning, acquired equivalence, and flexible generalization of knowledge in mild Alzheimer disease. Cogn Behav Neurol. 2009; 22(2):89–94. https://doi.org/10.1097/WNN.0b013e318192ccf0 PMID: 19506424
- Myers CE, Hopkins RO, DeLuca J, Moore NB, Wolansky LJ, Sumner JM, et al. Learning and generalization deficits in patients with memory impairments due to anterior communicating artery aneurysm rupture or hypoxic brain injury. Neuropsychology. 2008; 22(5):681–6. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0894-4105</u>. 22.5.681 PMID: 18763887
- Oze A, Nagy A, Benedek G, Bodosi B, Keri S, Palinkas E, et al. Acquired equivalence and related memory processes in migraine without aura. Cephalalgia. 2017; 37(6):532–40. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0333102416651286 PMID: 27206960</u>
- Nagy A, Paroczy Z, Norita M, Benedek G. Multisensory responses and receptive field properties of neurons in the substantia nigra and in the caudate nucleus. Eur J Neurosci. 2005; 22(2):419–24. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1460-9568.2005.04211.x PMID: 16045495</u>
- Nagy A, Eordegh G, Paroczy Z, Markus Z, Benedek G. Multisensory integration in the basal ganglia. Eur J Neurosci. 2006; 24(3):917–24. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1460-9568.2006.04942.x</u> PMID: 16930419
- Bates SL, Wolbers T. How cognitive aging affects multisensory integration of navigational cues. Neurobiol Aging. 2014; 35(12):2761–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2014.04.003 PMID: 24952995
- Ravassard P, Kees A, Willers B, Ho D, Aharoni DA, Cushman J, et al. Multisensory control of hippocampal spatiotemporal selectivity. Science. 2013; 340(6138):1342–6. https://doi.org/10.1126/science. 1232655 PMID: 23641063
- 14. Sarter NBJIjoie. Multimodal information presentation: Design guidance and research challenges. 2006; 36(5):439–45.
- Oviatt S, Cohen PJCotA. Perceptual user interfaces: multimodal interfaces that process what comes naturally. 2000; 43(3):45–53.
- Giard MH, Peronnet F. Auditory-visual integration during multimodal object recognition in humans: a behavioral and electrophysiological study. J Cogn Neurosci. 1999; 11(5):473–90. PMID: 10511637

- Newman EA, Hartline PH. Integration of visual and infrared information in bimodal neurons in the rattlesnake optic tectum. Science. 1981; 213(4509):789–91. PMID: 7256281
- Peck CK. Visual-auditory integration in cat superior colliculus: implications for neuronal control of the orienting response. Prog Brain Res. 1996; 112:167–77. PMID: 8979828
- Chudler EH, Sugiyama K, Dong WK. Multisensory convergence and integration in the neostriatum and globus pallidus of the rat. Brain Res. 1995; 674(1):33–45. PMID: 7773693
- Olcese U, Iurilli G, Medini P. Cellular and synaptic architecture of multisensory integration in the mouse neocortex. Neuron. 2013; 79(3):579–93. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2013.06.010</u> PMID: 23850594
- Wallace MT, Meredith MA, Stein BE. Multisensory integration in the superior colliculus of the alert cat. J Neurophysiol. 1998; 80(2):1006–10. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.1998.80.2.1006 PMID: 9705489
- 22. Reig R, Silberberg G. Multisensory integration in the mouse striatum. Neuron. 2014; 83(5):1200–12. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2014.07.033 PMID: 25155959
- 23. Minciacchi D, Tassinari G, Antonini A. Visual and somatosensory integration in the anterior ectosylvian cortex of the cat. Brain Res. 1987; 410(1):21–31. PMID: 3580897
- Lee H, Stirnberg R, Stocker T, Axmacher N. Audiovisual integration supports face-name associative memory formation. Cogn Neurosci. 2017; 8(4):177–92. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/17588928.2017</u>. 1327426 PMID: 28494223
- Lanz F, Moret V, Rouiller EM, Loquet G. Multisensory Integration in Non-Human Primates during a Sensory-Motor Task. Front Hum Neurosci. 2013; 7:799. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2013.00799</u> PMID: 24319421
- Godfroy-Cooper M, Sandor PM, Miller JD, Welch RB. The interaction of vision and audition in twodimensional space. Front Neurosci. 2015; 9:311. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fnins.2015.00311</u> PMID: 26441492
- Patching GR, Quinlan PT. Cross-modal integration of simple auditory and visual events. Percept Psychophys. 2004; 66(1):131–40. PMID: 15095946
- Sakata S, Yamamori T, Sakurai Y. Behavioral studies of auditory-visual spatial recognition and integration in rats. Exp Brain Res. 2004; 159(4):409–17. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00221-004-1962-6 PMID: 15249987
- Deshpande N, Patla AE. Dynamic visual-vestibular integration during goal directed human locomotion. Exp Brain Res. 2005; 166(2):237–47. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00221-005-2364-0 PMID: 16032405
- Leonardelli E, Braun C, Weisz N, Lithari C, Occelli V, Zampini M. Prestimulus oscillatory alpha power and connectivity patterns predispose perceptual integration of an audio and a tactile stimulus. Hum Brain Mapp. 2015; 36(9):3486–98. https://doi.org/10.1002/hbm.22857 PMID: 26109518
- Diederich A, Colonius H. Bimodal and trimodal multisensory enhancement: effects of stimulus onset and intensity on reaction time. Percept Psychophys. 2004; 66(8):1388–404. PMID: 15813202
- Wang WY, Hu L, Valentini E, Xie XB, Cui HY, Hu Y. Dynamic characteristics of multisensory facilitation and inhibition. Cogn Neurodyn. 2012; 6(5):409–19. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11571-012-9197-x PMID: 24082962
- Harlow HF. Studies in discrimination learning by monkeys; discriminations between stimuli differing in both color and form, and only in color, and only in form. J Gen Psychol. 1945; 33:225–35. PMID: 21006713
- Eninger MU. Habit summation in a selective learning problem. J Comp Physiol Psychol. 1952; 45 (6):604–8. PMID: 13000034
- Stein BE, Meredith MA, Huneycutt WS, McDade L. Behavioral Indices of Multisensory Integration: Orientation to Visual Cues is Affected by Auditory Stimuli. J Cogn Neurosci. 1989; 1(1):12–24. https://doi. org/10.1162/jocn.1989.1.1.12 PMID: 23968407
- Stein BE. Neural mechanisms for synthesizing sensory information and producing adaptive behaviors. Exp Brain Res. 1998; 123(1–2):124–35. PMID: <u>9835401</u>
- **37.** H.V.W. Tests for color blindness: By Prof. Dr. Shinobu Ishihara, Major I. J. A. M. C., Tokyo, Handaya, Hongo Harukicho, 1917. (Second Notice). American Journal of Ophthalmology. 1918;1(6):457.
- Gondan M, Minakata K. A tutorial on testing the race model inequality. Atten Percept Psychophys. 2016; 78(3):723–35. https://doi.org/10.3758/s13414-015-1018-y PMID: 26637234
- **39.** Miller J. Divided attention: evidence for coactivation with redundant signals. Cogn Psychol. 1982; 14 (2):247–79. PMID: 7083803
- Ulrich R, Miller J, Schroter H. Testing the race model inequality: an algorithm and computer programs. Behav Res Methods. 2007; 39(2):291–302. PMID: <u>17695357</u>

- Keri S, Nagy O, Kelemen O, Myers CE, Gluck MA. Dissociation between medial temporal lobe and basal ganglia memory systems in schizophrenia. Schizophr Res. 2005; 77(2–3):321–8. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.schres.2005.03.024 PMID: 15893916
- Puszta A, Katona X, Bodosi B, Pertich A, Nyujto D, Braunitzer G, et al. Cortical Power-Density Changes of Different Frequency Bands in Visually Guided Associative Learning: A Human EEG-Study. Front Hum Neurosci. 2018; 12:188. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2018.00188 PMID: 29867412
- **43.** White NM. Mnemonic functions of the basal ganglia. Curr Opin Neurobiol. 1997; 7(2):164–9. PMID: 9142761
- Packard MG, Knowlton BJ. Learning and memory functions of the Basal Ganglia. Annu Rev Neurosci. 2002; 25:563–93. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.neuro.25.112701.142937 PMID: 12052921
- Opitz B. Memory function and the hippocampus. Front Neurol Neurosci. 2014; 34:51–9. https://doi.org/10.1159/000356422 PMID: 24777130
- 46. van Atteveldt N, Murray MM, Thut G, Schroeder CE. Multisensory integration: flexible use of general operations. Neuron. 2014; 81(6):1240–53. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2014.02.044 PMID: 24656248
- Frassinetti F, Bolognini N, Ladavas E. Enhancement of visual perception by crossmodal visuo-auditory interaction. Exp Brain Res. 2002; 147(3):332–43. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00221-002-1262-y</u> PMID: 12428141
- Fort A, Delpuech C, Pernier J, Giard MH. Dynamics of cortico-subcortical cross-modal operations involved in audio-visual object detection in humans. Cereb Cortex. 2002; 12(10):1031–9. PMID: 12217966
- Suied C, Bonneel N, Viaud-Delmon I. Integration of auditory and visual information in the recognition of realistic objects. Exp Brain Res. 2009; 194(1):91–102. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00221-008-1672-6 PMID: 19093105
- 50. Chen X, Pan Z, Wang P, Yang X, Liu P, You X, et al. The integration of facial and vocal cues during emotional change perception: EEG markers. Soc Cogn Affect Neurosci. 2016; 11(7):1152–61. <u>https:// doi.org/10.1093/scan/nsv083</u> PMID: 26130820
- Love SA, Pollick FE, Latinus M. Cerebral correlates and statistical criteria of cross-modal face and voice integration. Seeing Perceiving. 2011; 24(4):351–67. https://doi.org/10.1163/187847511X584452 PMID: 21864459
- Joassin F, Pesenti M, Maurage P, Verreckt E, Bruyer R, Campanella S. Cross-modal interactions between human faces and voices involved in person recognition. Cortex. 2011; 47(3):367–76. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.cortex.2010.03.003 PMID: 20444445
- Hershenson M. Reaction time as a measure of intersensory facilitation. J Exp Psychol. 1962; 63:289– 93. PMID: 13906889
- Amso D, Davidson MC, Johnson SP, Glover G, Casey BJ. Contributions of the hippocampus and the striatum to simple association and frequency-based learning. Neuroimage. 2005; 27(2):291–8. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2005.02.035 PMID: 16061152
- Steinweg B, Mast FW. Semantic incongruity influences response caution in audio-visual integration. Exp Brain Res. 2017; 235(1):349–63. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00221-016-4796-0 PMID: 27734118
- Koelewijn T, Bronkhorst A, Theeuwes J. Attention and the multiple stages of multisensory integration: A review of audiovisual studies. Acta Psychol (Amst). 2010; 134(3):372–84.
- Shohamy D, Wagner AD. Integrating memories in the human brain: hippocampal-midbrain encoding of overlapping events. Neuron. 2008; 60(2):378–89. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2008.09.023 PMID: 18957228

Co-author certification

I, myself as a corresponding author of the following publication(s) declare that the authors have no conflict of interest, and Dr Anett Rosu Ph.D. candidate had significant contribution to the jointly published research(es). The results discussed in his thesis were not used and not intended to be used in any other qualification process for obtaining a PhD degree.

date: Szeged, 2023. 08. 09.

Dr Attila Nagy, corresponding author

The publication(s) relevant to the applicant's thesis:

1. EÖRDEGH, GABRIELLA; ŐZE, ATTILA; BODOSI, BALÁZS; PUSZTA, ANDRÁS; PERTICH, ÁKOS; <u>ROSU, ANETT</u> et al. (2019) Multisensory guided associative learning in healthy humans. PLOS ONE 14 (3), e0213094.

2. <u>ROSU, ANETT</u>; TÓT, KÁLMÁN; GODÓ, GYÖRGY; KÉRI, SZABOLCS; NAGY, ATTILA; EÖRDEGH, GABRIELLA (2022) Visually guided equivalence learning in borderline personality disorder. HELIYON 8 (10), e10823.